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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning.

          3  I'm sure you have all been briefed earlier about the

          4  fact that we had some very important business to

          5  take care of this morning with respect to the City's

          6  budget.  I want to thank you for all of your

          7  patience, and we would like to commence the hearing

          8  at this time.  There is still some items being

          9  wrapped by the rest of the membership and they will

         10  be joining us shortly, but we would like to get

         11  testimony underway.

         12                 Good morning.  I'm Yvette Clarke,

         13  Chair of the Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice

         14  Services.  This hearing, this Committee is holding a

         15  hearing on Resolution 12-A, a resolution urging the

         16  Governor and the State Legislature to place a

         17  moratorium on all executions in New York, until the

         18  application of capital punishment in New York is

         19  investigated and issues of fairness, justice and

         20  equality, due process and cost are addressed. And in

         21  calling upon the United States Congress to pass

         22  Senate Bill 233HR1038, the National Death Penalty

         23  Moratorium Act of 2001, and HR321, the Accuracy in

         24  Judicial Administration Act of 2001.

         25                 In anticipation that the Committee
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          2  will hear today from experts on both sides of the

          3  moratorium debate to discuss issues concerning the

          4  administration of the death penalty, among other

          5  issues I expect to address whether geographical and

          6  racial disparities exist in the manner in which the

          7  death penalty is applied.  Issues concerning

          8  wrongful convictions, issues raised in the Harris

          9  case, which is currently on appeal in New York State

         10  Court of Appeals, as well as issues concerning the

         11  cost of capital punishment.

         12                 Recently, the Death Penalty

         13  Moratorium Movement has been gathering steam.  In

         14  2000, Governor Ryan of Illinois declared a

         15  moratorium and set up a Commission to revisit his

         16  State's death penalty statute after several Illinois

         17  death row inmates were exonerated.  Governor Ryan's

         18  Commission recently released their report, which

         19  included 85 recommendations for overhauling

         20  Illinois' death penalty.

         21                 In May, Maryland became the second

         22  State with the death penalty moratorium.  When

         23  Governor Glendening ordered a halt to executions.

         24                 Moreover, within New York State, the

         25  cities of Buffalo, Rochester, and Mount Vernon, and
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          2  the towns of Greenburg and New Castle, have passed

          3  moratorium resolutions.

          4                 I believe the time is right for this

          5  Committee to discuss the moratorium issue.  I

          6  anticipate that many individuals will be signing up

          7  to testify at today's hearing, so I want everyone to

          8  know at the outset that I am forced to keep tight

          9  reign on the length of testimony.  However,

         10  witnesses are free to submit written testimony in

         11  addition to their oral testimony.  Any written

         12  testimony submitted at today's hearing will be

         13  included in the public record.  If you are planning

         14  to testify, and have not already done so, please

         15  notify one of the Sergeant- At- Arms and fill out a

         16  witness card.  Additionally, you should be aware

         17  that most witnesses will testify as part of a panel.

         18                 I'm joined today, so far, by our

         19  Deputy Majority Leader, Mr. Council Member Bill

         20  Perkins, and I believe he should have a statement

         21  for us at this time.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         23  very much, Chairperson Clarke.  I want to make a

         24  special appreciation to you and your Committee for

         25  taking on this resolution.  As the prime sponsor,
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          2  this has had some history in the Council of

          3  resistance and difficulty in terms of not only

          4  getting fair hearings, but also even in terms of, to

          5  some extent, getting drafted.  So in a way, this is

          6  a very momentous occasion for this Council.  And I

          7  want to thank you very much for spearheading it

          8  along with Council Member, Speaker Gifford Miller.

          9                 I also want to take a moment to

         10  acknowledge the role that the Moratorium Movement

         11  and the advocates against the death penalty have

         12  played, not only in recent history, as far as this

         13  Council is concerned, but throughout the City and

         14  throughout the country to raise the consciousness of

         15  the public of the moral, political, and even

         16  economic reasons why there needs to be such a

         17  moratorium.

         18                 I want to make a special note of a

         19  case that is today in the New York Times regarding

         20  the Central Park Jogger.  A case in which I was

         21  intimately involved when it first occurred, and in

         22  which several young men, constituents of mine were

         23  ultimately convicted, but it turns out that

         24  according to today's Times that there is an

         25  individual who has recently been convicted of the
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          2  death penalty and rape, who has confessed that he

          3  actually was involved with this horrendous incident

          4  and his DNA seems to be related to the DNA at the

          5  scene of the crime.

          6                 I raise this because what it does is

          7  it emphasizes for us the difficulties of convicting

          8  people especially or certain types of crimes.  In

          9  that case, by the way, there were advertisements

         10  taken out in the New York Times calling for the

         11  death penalty of the suspects who were described as

         12  a wolf pack, and were described as urban terrorists.

         13    And so the frenzy of media, essentially is what

         14  played a significant role in convicting them.

         15                 This particular article that is in

         16  today's Times raises questions once again, as to

         17  whether or not our judicial system is actually

         18  weighing the evidence properly; whether or not

         19  racial factors, economic factors, factors related to

         20  good defense of what is making the difference in

         21  people's cases.  And in this case, someone,

         22  unfortunately, may have been convicted of the death

         23  penalty and may have been sentenced to death and may

         24  have been actually put to death.

         25                 So we have to really consider that
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          2  this moratorium on the death penalty is very timely

          3  and very necessary.  And we hope that the Governor

          4  will take it to heart and do the right thing.

          5                 So again, I want to thank the

          6  Committee and the Chairwoman for having this

          7  hearing.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, Mr.

          9  Deputy Majority Leader.

         10                 At this time we will call members for

         11  our first panel of testimony, and I would like to

         12  call Mr. William F. Schulz of Amnesty International

         13  USA.  Okay, Mr. Hector Gonzalez with his Counsel,

         14  Mr. Glen Garber, Mr. Steven Chinlund representing

         15  Bishop Mark Sisk of the Episcopal Diocese of

         16  Brooklyn, I'm not sure if it is the Episcopal

         17  Diocese, and Ms. Elaine Jones of NAACP Legal Defense

         18  Fund.

         19                 We will start with the first

         20  individuals who have been identified, and what I ask

         21  of each of you is that prior to your testimony would

         22  you just identify who you are and who you represent?

         23    Thank you very much.

         24                 Dr. SCHULZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         25  I'm Dr. William Schulz, the Executive Director of
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          2  Amnesty International USA.  In my written testimony,

          3  which we have submitted, we deal with issues of

          4  racial bias in the death penalty, the effect of

          5  abolition on crime rates and various other issues.

          6  So I want to address in these very brief oral

          7  remarks, the issue that Amnesty International is

          8  perhaps best suited to address, and that is, how

          9  capital punishment affects the United States

         10  standing internationally.

         11                 We saw, just yesterday, that Germany

         12  indicated that it might be unwilling to provide

         13  information to the United States that could be used

         14  in the trial of the so- called 20th hijacker,

         15  because that individual may be subjected to the

         16  death penalty.  And this is an instance that is

         17  reflective of the larger problem with the United

         18  States, its use of the death penalty.  Because we

         19  stand virtually alone among democratic societies in

         20  retaining that punishment.

         21                 Every year, more and more countries

         22  have codified their reluctance to execute prisoners,

         23  and indeed, a majority of the world's countries

         24  today, by a significant number, either have outlaw

         25  the Death Penalty or do not practice it.
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          2                 Over the years, for example, almost

          3  all of our allies, Germany in 1987, Switzerland in

          4  1992, Italy in 1994, Spain in 1995, Belgium in 1996,

          5  Canada and the United Kingdom in 1998, almost all of

          6  our major allies have abolished this punishment.

          7                 It is not coincidence that so many

          8  countries have abolished the death penalty also as

          9  part of their emergence from a transition from a

         10  more authoritarian to a more democratic form of

         11  government.  In countries as diverse as Haiti,

         12  Paraguay, Romania, Spain, Portugal, Namibia, the

         13  death penalty was abolished once dictatorships came

         14  to an end.  In South Africa, back in 1980, the

         15  apartheid government declared a moratorium on the

         16  death penalty when it released Nelson Mandela and

         17  opened negotiations with the African National

         18  Congress.  This process reached fruition in 1995,

         19  when capital punishment was abolished altogether in

         20  the new South African constitution.

         21                 The death penalty in these cases was

         22  part of the repressive machinery of a dictatorial

         23  state.  And once a more democratic society was

         24  established there was a fundamental determination to

         25  do away with the most terrible prerogative that any
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          2  government can exercise.

          3                 It is an awkward fact that four

          4  countries account for over 90 percent of judicial

          5  executions in this world.  The United States, China,

          6  Iran, and Saudi Arabia.  Now why should the US count

          7  itself among such countries as Iran, Iraq, China,

          8  Syria, Malaysia, when all of those countries whose

          9  political traditions we claim to share, the United

         10  Kingdom, Canada, France and so on, have abolished

         11  the death penalty?

         12                 Let me say that members of Amnesty

         13  International share the concern of all citizens over

         14  the terrible crimes of violence that plaque our

         15  communities.  We are a victims' rights organization.

         16    But the death penalty will not resolve problems

         17  associated with crime.  Application of the death

         18  penalty in this country has been arbitrary, racially

         19  biased and capricious.  It can be compared to a

         20  horrifying lottery in which political, financial,

         21  community pressures play a more decisive part in

         22  sending a person to the death chamber than the

         23  actual crime itself.

         24                 Let me say in conclusion, Madam

         25  Chair, that there are many people who are surprised
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          2  at Amnesty International's outright, absolute

          3  opposition to the death penalty.  They applaud our

          4  work to free prisoners of conscience.  They share

          5  abhorrence of torture.  But they fail to understand

          6  that an execution is the ultimate form of torture.

          7  That if it is wrong to attach electrodes to a

          8  prisoner in order to cause her excruciating pain,

          9  but not to kill her, as has happened to thousands of

         10  prisoners around the world, if it is wrong to do

         11  that, then it is surely wrong to attach electrodes

         12  in order to kill a prisoner.

         13                 In the Soviet Union under Brezhnev,

         14  it was a form of torture to administer anti-

         15  psychotic drugs to healthy people because of their

         16  political descent.  And we believe that it would

         17  also be a form of torture to inject poisonous drug

         18  into a prisoner in order to kill him.  Seen in this

         19  light the death penalty is not a criminal justice

         20  issue, it is a human rights issue, and the

         21  moratorium is a step in the direction of determining

         22  the facts about its administration and righting an

         23  ancient wrong.

         24                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We would like to
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          2  thank you, Dr. Schulz.  Folks I know that this an

          3  issue that we are all here to hear out.  I would ask

          4  that you refrain from clapping, just in the interest

          5  of time, because we have quite a few people who will

          6  be testifying today.

          7                 I would like to ask our next person

          8  for testimony to please identify yourself at this

          9  time.

         10                 MR. GARBER:  My name is Glen Garber.

         11  I'm the lawyer for Hector Gonzalez, who is sitting

         12  to my left.  We are basically here to answer

         13  questions.  I am not going to make a statement,

         14  other than to just introduce the case.

         15                 Mr. Gonzalez was convicted in 1996

         16  for a homicide in Brooklyn, New York.  It was a

         17  crime that he did not commit.  He spent six and a

         18  half years in jail, and was recently exonerated by

         19  DNA evidence that surfaced in the case.

         20                 We believe that his case really shows

         21  very clearly the frailties of the Criminal Justice

         22  System.  In this case there was one eyewitness who

         23  identified him, who turned out to be wrong.

         24                 We are here to answer questions

         25  though, from the panel about this case and to add
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          2  whatever light we can, and to show that wrongful

          3  convictions for serious crimes and homicides, which

          4  would lead to the death penalty at this point in

          5  time, do occur. And we are here to answer questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          7  much.  I would like to acknowledge that we have been

          8  joined by Council Member Avella of Queens.  And ask

          9  whether you have any questions at this time?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         11  very much to the panel for your participation.  I

         12  want to ask a question of Counsel, to the extent

         13  that your client was subject to an unfair trial,

         14  could you kind of give us some of what that

         15  entailed?

         16                 MR. GARBER:  The details, a little

         17  bit about the case?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Yes.

         19                 MR. GARBER:  Yes.  Well this was a

         20  gang, it started out as a gang assault.  The

         21  allegation was that a group of Latin Kings outside

         22  of a bar in Brooklyn got into a fight in the bar and

         23  the fight sprawled out onto the street.  And there

         24  was one individual that these individuals were

         25  fighting with, and they wound up murdering this
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          2  individual.

          3                 Hector Gonzalez was at the bar, was

          4  there with a cousin of his, was not a Latin King.

          5  Although, some of the people who were there were,

          6  one of his cousins was, and he was just standing in

          7  the wings watching as this incident took place.

          8  There was a lot of confusion on the street, it was a

          9  very horrific crime that took place, by the way, and

         10  the Police went rounding up all the Hispanic

         11  suspects in the area after the incident.

         12                 Mr. Gonzalez was ultimately one of

         13  the people that got arrested and was brought back to

         14  the precinct, and witnesses were also brought back

         15  to the precinct and were shown lineups of

         16  individuals.  Mr. Gonzalez was one of the

         17  individuals who was put in the line up and he was

         18  picked out by one of the witnesses.  And he wound up

         19  getting held in pre- trial detention for about a

         20  year, without bail.  And he wound up getting

         21  convicted after trial based on the testimony of one

         22  individual who said that he saw him as part of this

         23  group that was assaulting and ultimately killed this

         24  other individual.

         25                 There was some blood that was found
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          2  on Mr. Gonzalez's pants, and a serology test was

          3  done on the blood, and the blood, according to the

          4  serology test came out to be consistent with the

          5  blood of the decedent.  So the blood evidence

          6  collaborated what this eyewitness was saying, and

          7  his conviction rested not only on the eyewitness,

          8  but on the blood evidence, which actually turned out

          9  to be probably the most critical piece of evidence

         10  in the case against him, was the blood.

         11                 DNA tests were subsequently done on

         12  the blood on Mr. Gonzalez's pants, and the DNA test

         13  excluded the possibility that the blood on his pants

         14  was the blood of the decedent.  So it turns out that

         15  the theory that was advanced by the prosecution at

         16  the trial was wrong, and there were also a number of

         17  witnesses that came forward subsequently also that

         18  exonerated Mr. Gonzalez.

         19                 And that is the basic picture of the

         20  case.  But, I mean, I think it shows an example of

         21  where a zealous prosecutor who did a very aggressive

         22  and I think thorough job, or thorough, I think it

         23  was an aggressive job and he gave a very good

         24  summation. It was not thorough in the sense that

         25  they did not do DNA tests. Because DNA was available
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          2  back then, and the State chose, for whatever

          3  reasons, not to use DNA evidence or do a DNA test to

          4  have that evidence brought forth at that point in

          5  time.  But he had an aggressive summation, and I

          6  think it was persuasive to the jury and it caused an

          7  innocent man to be convicted.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Would you

          9  consider this to have been a case in which the term

         10  racial profiling would apply?

         11                 MR. GARBER:  I did not think of it in

         12  those terms, because actually all of the, probably

         13  not, I do not think so.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  But clearly

         15  that Mr. Gonzalez, his race or ethnicity has

         16  something to do with his getting picked up?

         17                 MR. GARBER:  Well it did, I mean it

         18  was a bar where a lot of Hispanic people were.  So I

         19  think the witnesses were Hispanic, the decedent was

         20  Hispanic, and the defendants were Hispanic.  So

         21  because of that, I think it is hard to characterize

         22  this particular case as a racial profiling case.  I

         23  think though that the police did focus on Hispanic

         24  males exclusively, and they may have been swayed in

         25  some way by that label, but I would not characterize
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          2  this case as a racial profiling case.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Was anyone

          4  eventually otherwise convicted?

          5                 MR. GARBER:  Yes.  There were a

          6  number of people who were convicted in a State

          7  prosecution.  And then there was a subsequent

          8  federal prosecution that led to some additional

          9  convictions.

         10                 The claim was that about 15 people

         11  were involved in the assault that led to the murder.

         12    And I believe approximately 10 of them have been

         13  convicted.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I have a

         16  question for you, Dr. Schulz.  Have any studies

         17  conducted that indicate whether or not that the

         18  death penalty has an effect on the incidence of

         19  capital crimes?

         20                 MR. SCHULZ:  Well, Madam Chair, as my

         21  written testimony describes, in fact, many of the

         22  studies that have been conducted on this issue

         23  showed that in fact crimes, capital crimes often

         24  decline when the death penalty is abolished.

         25                 So if we take the Country of Canada,
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          2  for example, which has some demographic similarities

          3  to our own, the capital crime rate in Canada has

          4  actually declined since the year that Canada

          5  abolished the death penalty.

          6                 What is certainly clear, and there

          7  are studies on both sides of this issue, but what is

          8  certainly clear is that there in no pattern that is

          9  reproduced in one area after another to demonstrate

         10  that the death penalty has any consistent deterrent

         11  quality with regard to crime.  That is absolutely

         12  clear.

         13                 And if you take the State in this

         14  nation that has the highest incidence of the

         15  execution of capital prisoners, namely, the State of

         16  Texas, it is quite interesting that Texas also,

         17  still, has a 25 percent higher murder rate than the

         18  national average.  Despite the fact that Texas has

         19  for many years, not only had the death penalty on

         20  its books, but has, in fact, executed the largest

         21  number of individuals in this country.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Either of you,

         23  both the Counsel or Mr. Schulz, I would like to know

         24  whether you have any information that now the DNA

         25  testing is more available and more prevalent, are
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          2  prosecutors required to do DNA testing in these

          3  types of cases?

          4                 MR. GARBER:  I do not believe that

          5  they are.  I mean I think they would be criticized

          6  very strongly if they did not do it.  I mean in a

          7  case where, you know, blood evidence is a

          8  significant piece, a significant part of their case.

          9    But I am not aware of a rule that requires them to

         10  actually do DNA tests in a given prosecution.

         11                 I think though, this case though, we

         12  were fortunate that there was DNA evidence available

         13  to us.  Because this case really, there was one part

         14  of it was the testimony of one eyewitness, and there

         15  are plenty of cases where one eyewitness testifies

         16  and says, this person did X, Y, and Z, and that

         17  leads to a conviction.  DNA just shows us that these

         18  witnesses can be wrong. And in the majority of

         19  cases, there is not DNA evidence.  This just gives

         20  us a window into how weak the system is, and how

         21  innocent people get convicted.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         23  much.  I would like to acknowledge that we have been

         24  joined by Council Member, the Reverend Ruben Diaz of

         25  the Bronx.  And I believe he has a question at this
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          2  time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Thank you,

          4  Madam Chairlady, and good morning.

          5                 Let me ask a question of you, your

          6  name again?

          7                 MR. GARBER:  Glen Garber.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Okay, this is a

          9  direct question.  Are you in favor or against the

         10  death penalty?

         11                 MR. GARBER:  I'm opposed, I have been

         12  a Criminal Defense Attorney for 12 years, and from

         13  what I have seen during my practice, I am very

         14  strongly opposed to the death penalty.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Could you tell

         16  me why?

         17                 MR. GARBER:  Well I think that a lot

         18  of convictions turn on factors that do not relate to

         19  whether or not a person is innocent or guilty.  I

         20  think a lot of it has to do with the charisma of the

         21  prosecutor.  Sometimes the deficiencies of the

         22  defense attorneys, sometimes the animosity of the

         23  judge toward the defendant over the crime.  I mean

         24  some of the crimes are obviously horrific, the

         25  allegations are terrible, and that has an affect on
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          2  the judge, and that has an affect on the way the

          3  judge rules on evidentiary rulings, and the scales

          4  can clearly tilt against the defendant for all the

          5  wrong reasons, and when you boil it down, there may

          6  be very little evidence against that defendant, but

          7  that defendant gets convicted.

          8                 I mean that is the problem with our

          9  system, and why, you know, people do get convicted

         10  who are innocent.  It has nothing to do with DNA, I

         11  mean.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  What is your

         13  opinion about DNA?

         14                 MR. GARBER:  What do I feel about

         15  DNA?  I think it is a great tool for both sides.

         16  And I think it is wonderful that it has exposed all

         17  these wrongful convictions in the way that it has.

         18  Because people cannot avoid it, people cannot avoid,

         19  you know, the evidentiary strength of DNA.  And it

         20  is clear that innocent people get convicted.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Would you say

         22  that DNA might prevent some innocent person from

         23  getting convicted?

         24                 MR. GARBER:  Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  DNA would
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          2  prevent that?

          3                 MR. GARBER:  I can, in many cases it

          4  can.  But what I said though earlier, is - -  I'm

          5  sorry.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  If DNA could

          7  prevent an injustice, you still opposing the death

          8  penalty?

          9                 MR. GARBER:  Yes, I oppose the death

         10  penalty because, I mean, I hope I understand what

         11  you are getting at, but I do not think, DNA is not

         12  available in the majority - -

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  No, no, no,

         14  forget about, I'm just, it's for my own benefit.

         15                 MR. GARBER:  If DNA can prevent a

         16  wrongful conviction, would I - -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  You would still

         18  oppose a death penalty?

         19                 MR. GARBER:  Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  On what ground?

         21                 MR. GARBER:  Well because I think DNA

         22  is not available in a lot of cases.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  No, no, no, you

         24  are going again.  Let's assume, when I asked you if

         25  you was in favor of death penalty, you say, you are
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          2  opposed.  And you gave me the reason in justice,

          3  legally people could be innocent and could be found

          4  guilty.  But let's say, let's assume all those

          5  reasons that you gave me before are taken are done

          6  away with and we have DNA - -

          7                 MR. GARBER:  And we can guarantee

          8  that everybody --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Let's say we

         10  have DNA.

         11                 MR. GARBER:  Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  What would you,

         13  you would still oppose the death penalty?

         14                 MR. GARBER:  Probably yes.  I mean if

         15  you start talking about like - -

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I'm talking

         17  about we have DNA, we got it, we did it, what is

         18  your position?

         19                 MR. GARBER:  I would still oppose the

         20  death penalty.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  On what ground?

         22                 MR. GARBER:  Probably on a religious

         23  and moral ground, a moral and ethical ground.  I

         24  just do not think that a civilized society, I mean

         25  if you are asking my personal opinion, should be
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          2  putting people to death.  I think the ultimate

          3  punishment is life imprisonment and that is what we

          4  can get.   I mean that is the most that society can

          5  get, even in the most heinous situation. I mean that

          6  is my own personal view.

          7                 Even if you can, even in an iron clad

          8  case that shows that somebody is guilty.  But I'm

          9  not speaking from that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I understand, I

         11  understand last year there were two guys, they did

         12  16 years, and then a priest said that the guilty one

         13  confessed to a priest, and those two persons have to

         14  do 16 years.  If that had been the death penalty,

         15  they would have been dead.  So that is a problem.

         16                 MR. GARBER:  Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  My other

         18  problem, let's say that we do away with that

         19  problem, and then we have DNA.  Then what?

         20                 MR. GARBER:  I think that, it sounds

         21  to me like you are carving out an exception for

         22  cases where you have DNA evidence, it establishes

         23  somebody's guilt, iron clad.  In those situations

         24  should we have the death penalty, is that what you

         25  are saying?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I hear everyone

          3  opposing the death penalty.  And people are opposing

          4  it, but the reason everyone gives, for example, the

          5  one that I am giving you, those two guys would have

          6  been put into the death penalty, they would have

          7  been killed and then 16 years later they would have

          8  found out they were innocent.  So everyone gives

          9  that reason, it is a valid reason.

         10                 MR. GARBER:  Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  And justice, we

         12  have no guarantee to see that the person who is put

         13  to death is the guilty one, and that is a valid

         14  reason.

         15                 MR. GARBER:  Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Then other

         17  people say, okay, let's say that we have definite

         18  proof like DNA, sooner or later we are going to get

         19  DNA approved already, I might be wrong.  Sooner or

         20  later we might be getting DNA ready for everyone,

         21  then what we do, what after that, then what?  And

         22  that is my concern, and I appreciate you.  Thank

         23  you, I have no more questions.

         24                 MR. SCHULZ:  May I answer your

         25  question?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Certainly, Dr.

          3  Schulz, please feel free to.

          4                 MR. SCHULZ:  Very briefly.  First of

          5  all, let me note, Reverend Diaz, that the Illinois

          6  Commission, which studied this question and which

          7  contained people on both sides of the death penalty

          8  question, unanimously concluded that even if every

          9  protection that they had recommended was put into

         10  place, they could not guarantee, the State could not

         11  guarantee that innocent people would not be

         12  executed.

         13                 But let's take your premise, and

         14  let's assume that God has revealed to every single

         15  one of us, as one clergyman to another, let's say

         16  that God has revealed to every single one of us who

         17  is guilty and who is not.  We in Amnesty

         18  International would still oppose the death penalty

         19  for several reasons:

         20                 First of all, because we believe it

         21  is a violation of clearly articulated, international

         22  human rights standards.

         23                 Second of all, because we believe

         24  that it contributes to the brutalization of every

         25  society that adopts it, and therefore, even if every
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          2  single person who was executed is proven to be

          3  guilty, would in fact make our society a more

          4  dangerous one, rather than a safer one.  And I have

          5  quoted some of the statistics that would appear to

          6  bolster that.

          7                 And finally, we would point out that

          8  since it puts the United States in the company of

          9  some of the most atrocious human rights defenders in

         10  the world, China, Iran, Iraq, the fact is that it

         11  diminishes the standing of the United States in the

         12  eyes of the International community, even if every

         13  single person who was executed was proven by God to

         14  be guilty.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  You might be

         16  right.  I'm not saying I'm not conceding to you, but

         17  I have problem, I have a problem with seeing, see I

         18  am the Chaplain of the New York State Federation of

         19  Taxi.  Two years ago we buried about 10 guys, they

         20  get killed, boom, boom.  And then for the ghettos,

         21  Dominican and mostly people that get up in the

         22  morning, five o'clock in the morning and they are

         23  there till eleven, twelve o'clock at night, trying

         24  to honestly find a way to support their family.

         25                 Then these guys come and they buy or
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          2  purchase or find a gun.  They put bullets in that

          3  gun, then they say, I want to go into that grocery,

          4  I'm going to get into that taxi, I'm going to steal

          5  the money, if they resist me, I'm going to kill

          6  them.  And they go there, and they live in my

          7  community, maybe not your's, but in my community,

          8  fathers, honest citizens get killed, or the ghettos

          9  get killed.  And people are doing it purposefully,

         10  they are just doing it purposefully.  I'm going to

         11  go there, and I'm going to, if they, I'm going to

         12  kill them.  And people go there killing, and some

         13  others for $50, they just, they are going to kill

         14  them for $50. I have got a problem with that.

         15                 MR. SCHULZ:  Of course, I do too.

         16  But, Reverend, not one word that I say in opposition

         17  to the death penalty is an expression of sympathy

         18  for those kind of individuals, not one word. It is,

         19  in fact, a testimony as to how we can better protect

         20  our communities from those kind of individuals.  And

         21  I do not believe that the use of the death penalty

         22  has been proven in any way, shape or form to

         23  contribute to the protection of innocent law-

         24  abiding people, quite the contrary.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank
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          2  our panelists for testifying here today.  And I

          3  would like to hold on a moment, actually we have

          4  another question, but I would like to acknowledge

          5  that both Council Member James Sanders, Jr. From

          6  Queens has joined us; and Council Member Hiram

          7  Monserrate from Queens has joined us. I believe that

          8  Council Member James Sanders, Jr. Has a question for

          9  the panel.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I will be

         11  brief, Madam Chair.  I want to congratulate for

         12  being bold enough to tackle one of the hardest

         13  issues of our day, and if we can make some movement

         14  in the City Council, it would be a fantastic thing.

         15  I also want to congratulate the near legendary

         16  Amnesty International, the good work that you guys

         17  have done all over the world speaks for itself. I

         18  have been informed that my brother in the middle is

         19  a person that had been on death row?

         20                 MR. GARBER:  No, it was before the

         21  death penalty.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I'm sorry.

         23                 MR. GARBER:  It was before the death

         24  penalty was imposed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I see.
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          2                 MR. GARBER:  He was convicted of

          3  murder and was serving a lengthy prison sentence for

          4  that homicide.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  And later

          6  proved - -

          7                 MR. GARBER:  To be innocent.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I mean, you

          9  know, since God's name has been brought to the

         10  surface, we certainly should remember that there but

         11  for the grace of God, go I.  You know, I have done a

         12  little studying of the Bible too, and I remember

         13  that in the New Testament, we do not speak of an eye

         14  for an eye anymore, we speak of another thing.  And

         15  it is good to read the whole Bible under those

         16  conditions.

         17                 I think that the loss of any life is

         18  regrettable and reprehensible, the taking of any

         19  life.  It is such a sacred thing. The life of a taxi

         20  driver, the life of anyone out here, doctor, lawyer,

         21  Amnesty International President, City Council

         22  member, any life is a sacred thing.  But we start

         23  unraveling a thread, a thread of life in a social

         24  compact.  And I personally believe that the life

         25  without parole is the highest form of punishment
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          2  that we can give, especially since it gives us the

          3  opportunity to re- examine and make sure that we are

          4  correct.  And we can avoid, because you know, how

          5  are we going to bring someone back, who is innocent?

          6                 If you cannot, until society figures

          7  out how to bring back the innocent, I do not think

          8  that we should have this thing.  So I'm glad to

          9  support this movement.  Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         11  Council member. Gentlemen, thank you again for

         12  coming and for testifying before us.

         13                 I would like to just acknowledge that

         14  we have received a statement from the Reverend Jesse

         15  Jackson, Sr., and this statement will be read into

         16  our record, and it is in favor of this moratorium.

         17                 I would also like to state that the

         18  New York State Catholic Conference has sent their

         19  testimony as well, and their testimony is in favor

         20  of this moratorium.

         21                 We will call at this time our next

         22  set of panelists. I would like to call Ms. Elaine

         23  Jones of the NAACP Legal Defense Fund.  And I would

         24  like to know if Steven Chinlund is available to

         25  testify at this time?  Okay, if you would give that
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          2  to the Sergeant- At- Arms, so that we can make sure

          3  that it is read into the our record.  Ms. Jones, are

          4  you prepared to testify at this time?

          5                 MS. Jones:  Yes, I am.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, thank you.

          7    Just state your name and your affiliation for us.

          8                 MS. JONES:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

         10                 MR. JONES:  My name is Elaine Jones,

         11  and I'm President and Director Counsel of the NAACP

         12  Legal Defense and Educational Fund.  It is the

         13  nation's oldest Civil Rights Law Firm, and we are

         14  headquartered here in New York, with offices in Los

         15  Angeles and Washington, D.C.  And we were founded by

         16  Justice Herbert Marshall, the first African-

         17  American judge on the Supreme Court of the United

         18  States.  And Justice Marshall spent virtually his

         19  entire legal career as a lawyer at the Legal Defense

         20  Fund, the law firm that he founded.

         21                 Thank you, I appreciate this

         22  Committee, Madam Chairlady and members of the

         23  Committee, for being invited to testify on this

         24  important resolution.

         25                 First, I want to congratulate this
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          2  Committee for taking up this issue.  This is not an

          3  easy issue, and it is a critically important one.

          4  Many nationwide will find it to be controversial,

          5  but this Committee is doing the right thing.  And

          6  just to have this hearing so that we can bring some

          7  of these issues in the open.

          8                 I have been a lawyer for more than 30

          9  years.  The Legal Defense Fund, since our existence,

         10  since 1940, has spent the last 62 years dealing with

         11  this issue of death.  Throughout this country we

         12  know how this death penalty has been used.  When we

         13  first started throughout the forties and fifties and

         14  sixties, we had people on death row and being tried

         15  and executed like you eat popcorn in a movie.  And

         16  what was it all about?  The majority of African-

         17  American men on death row, when we started this

         18  exercise, were on death row for rape, and they lost

         19  their lives for being accused, in many cases,

         20  wrongly, of rape.

         21                 Most of these men, and around the

         22  1960s, or you had around time when Furman was

         23  decided, you had 455 men on death row, especially

         24  those in the South, most of them were on death row

         25  for rape.  And usually it was rape of white females
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          2  of which they were accused.  That just bread all

          3  kinds of discrimination in the system.

          4                 When I became a lawyer at the Legal

          5  Defense Fund, my first clients were two people on

          6  death row in Alabama, two Black men accused of

          7  raping women.  And luckily, LDF was able to get

          8  involved in that case with our limited resources,

          9  and those men are free today, after having served at

         10  least 15 years a piece on death row.

         11                 Now a lot of these issues to LDF are

         12  not new issues, and we took these cases on with

         13  limited resources, because at that time we were the

         14  only game in town, and luckily, others have joined

         15  and put their shoulders to the wheel, and we decided

         16  to try to get the Supreme Court to understand that

         17  death penalty for rape was unconstitutional.  And we

         18  were able to do that in 1977.

         19                 Now we have the death penalty solely

         20  for murder in the nation.  But what we see now is

         21  that with the overwhelming number, as I speak to

         22  this Committee, about 3,700 people on death row, and

         23  80 percent of these people on death row are on for

         24  the murder of white victims, 80 percent.  Yet,

         25  nearly of half of the victims in this country,
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          2  murder victims are people of color.  So people who

          3  murder them do not end up on the row for some

          4  reason. I mean what we see is, in the use of the

          5  death penalty we see a preference for white life.

          6  Now I think all life is important.  I think no

          7  matter the color of that life, but I'm just raising

          8  the point that there is a disparity in terms of who

          9  receives the penalty.

         10                 Right now if we were to look at our

         11  death row of those 3,700 people, more than 80

         12  percent are on death row, these people, who are on

         13  death row, more than 80 percent of them, the victims

         14  were, who had white victims.  Yet, nearly half the

         15  victims are Black, Latino and other.  Now there is

         16  some discretion operating throughout this penalty.

         17                 We went up to the Supreme Court

         18  again, after we went up there in 1977 and the Court

         19  agreed with us that the death penalty should be

         20  limited to murder.  Five years before that we had

         21  gotten the Court in Furman v. Georgia, and it was my

         22  first case in the Supreme Court, and I was fortunate

         23  enough to be Counsel of Record in that case in the

         24  Supreme Court in 1972.  And the issue there was, you

         25  know, the freakish and wanton imposition of the
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          2  death penalty.  You could be in Nevada and have

          3  similar circumstances to your crime, and you could

          4  be in Georgia, similar circumstances, one would get

          5  the death penalty, you know, and someone else would

          6  not get it, in a given state it was all over the

          7  place.

          8                 And so the Court looked at that and

          9  said, well, no, this does not pass constitutional

         10  muster, because it is the luck of the draw as

         11  whether or not you get this penalty.

         12                 I recommend to this Committee, rather

         13  than my going through all of this, if you would take

         14  the time to, I submitted my testimony for the

         15  record.  It is not a long statement, it is about 11

         16  pages, 8 and 1/2 X 11 paper, and it is sort of

         17  outlines, sort of the facts and the history of the

         18  death penalty in readable form. And it shows where

         19  we have come and where we are today.

         20                 Now where we are today in terms of

         21  this penalty, is that of all of these people on

         22  death row that these guided discretion statutes,

         23  which is what New York passed and adopted it in

         24  1995, that this discretion more and more is showing

         25  us that once again, in our view, race has reared its
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          2  ugly head in terms of the imposition of the penalty

          3  of death.  This we cannot abide.

          4                 Now the Supreme Court told us in the

          5  McCleskey v. Kemp that this is an issue for the

          6  Legislature.  That the Court sees all of this

          7  disparity, but the Court will do nothing about it,

          8  so it leaves it up to the people to decide.

          9                 I thank this Committee for helping

         10  the people to decide and for holding these hearings.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         12  much.  Any questions for the panelists?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  I just want

         14  to make a comment of appreciation.  I know that you

         15  were here last year when we had our first hearing on

         16  this matter, and I know you traveled to be here, and

         17  that represents your sincere commitment to this

         18  movement.  And I wanted to just make sure that you

         19  understood how important your presence was to us and

         20  your consistency on this matter.  Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MS. JONES:  Thank you very much,

         23  Council Member Sanders.  And I just wanted to say as

         24  we sit here, New York had --  Oh, I'm sorry, Council

         25  Member Perkins.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  That is all

          3  right.

          4                 MS. JONES:  No, no, no, it's not all

          5  right, you have a right to be called by your name, I

          6  believe that.  Council Member Perkins, thank you so

          7  much.

          8                 But I just wanted to make a point

          9  about New York, and right now as we sit here your

         10  penalty, the penalty came into existence in 1995,

         11  right now you have six people on death row.  Of

         12  those six people half of them are minority already,

         13  as of now, and you just started.

         14                 And also, it is, you need to look at

         15  the expense of the penalty, and I have attached

         16  three pages about that to my testimony.  It is

         17  prohibitively expensive to spend the time to put

         18  someone on death row when that same money could keep

         19  someone incarcerated without possible parole for 40,

         20  45 years.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And thank you so

         23  much for your testimony, and we will be sure to

         24  examine the materials that you have left with us in

         25  detail.  Thank you so much.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 MS. JONES:  Thank you so much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like to

          4  call at this time our next panel, and included on

          5  that panel is Ms. Donna Lieberman of the New York

          6  Civil Liberties Union;  Mr. Norman L. Greene,

          7  Association of the Bar of the City of New York;  Mr.

          8  Joshua Dratel, National Association of Criminal

          9  Defense Lawyers; and Mr. Ronald Tabak, American Bar

         10  Association from Washington, D.C.

         11                 Ladies and gentlemen, I know this is

         12  a very passionate issue, and I would like to remind

         13  you that we would like to hear as much testimony as

         14  possible.  So that, if you could, get really

         15  specific and targeted in your message, and be aware

         16  that we are trying to put some time parameters here.

         17    We will be entering your written testimony into

         18  the record, and I like that you would identify

         19  yourself and the organization that you are here on

         20  behalf of, before you begin your testimony.  Thank

         21  you so much for coming today.

         22                 MS. LIEBERMAN:  My name is Donna

         23  Lieberman.  I am the Executive Director of the New

         24  York Civil Liberties Union.  And I want to thank you

         25  for conducting these hearings, Councilwoman Clarke,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            42

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  and I want to thank Councilman Perkins for

          3  introducing the Moratorium Resolution, and the other

          4  Council members who have signed on as co- sponsors.

          5                 I would like to begin with noting

          6  what a Massachusetts State Legislator said some 150

          7  years ago, which is that "In every instance in which

          8  the law violates the sanctity of human life, that

          9  life is held less sacred by the community among whom

         10  the outrage is perpetrated."

         11                 Well in arrogating to itself the role

         12  of executioner, our government violates the

         13  principles of fairness and justice upon which our

         14  democracy is based, and, itself, demeans the

         15  sanctity of human life.  It has become paramount in

         16  the last several years, thanks to the pioneering

         17  work of the Innocence Project, the researchers at

         18  Columbia University, the Illinois Commission

         19  appointed by Governor Ryan, and others, that the

         20  death penalty as administered in the United States,

         21  whether it is in the states themselves or in the

         22  federal system is systematically and persistently

         23  fraught with error.  The error rate is nearly 70

         24  percent, and typically the errors are not weeded out

         25  until three steps of the Criminal Justice Process
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          2  are completed.

          3                 The most common reasons are worth

          4  noting, incompetence of counsel, and what I would

          5  call prosecutorial misconduct, the withholding of

          6  exculpatory evidence from defense counsel by police

          7  and prosecutors.  It is well known that the death

          8  penalty and the decisions about the death penalty

          9  are highly politicized and routinely susceptible to

         10  prejudice, misjudgment and error.

         11                 Nationwide the Federal death row is

         12  overwhelming made up of people of color way out of

         13  their proportion in the general population, and way

         14  out of proportion to their numbers in the jail

         15  population, as well.

         16                 It is well known that African-

         17  Americans are far more likely to face the death

         18  penalty for the same crimes than white people.  It

         19  is also well known that in the federal system a tiny

         20  handful of federal districts account for the

         21  overwhelming majority of death penalty cases.

         22                 Well how does this fair on New York?

         23  We know historically that in New York we executed

         24  more innocent people than any other state in the

         25  country during the period of 1905 to 1974 when our
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          2  death penalty was in effect prior to the current

          3  law.  You know there is very little I like about New

          4  York Death Penalty Statute, but there is one

          5  provision that gives us a little bit of hope, and

          6  that is the requirement that there be, before anyone

          7  can be executed there be a determination that it is

          8  being fairly administered without discrimination

          9  based on race or geography, for example.

         10                 Well, we have 62 District Attorneys

         11  in the State of New York, each of whom is making an

         12  independent decision whether or not to seek the

         13  death penalty in particular cases.  Based on their

         14  own politics, based on their political pressures

         15  that affect them, and without any consistent set of

         16  standards or norms.  This is a recipe for lack of

         17  fairness and discrimination.

         18                 A final statement quoting somebody

         19  I'm not use to quoting, District Attorney

         20  Morgenthau, he said in 1995 in an opt- ed piece,

         21   "prosecutors must reveal the dirty little secrets

         22  they often only share among themselves.  The death

         23  penalty actually hinders the fight against crime."

         24  And for that reason, if for no other reason, though

         25  there are many, we urge the City Council to adopt
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          2  the Moratorium on Death in the State of New York.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We want to thank

          5  you for your testimony.

          6                 MR. GREENE:  I am Norman Greene.  I

          7  Chair the Death Penalty Committee of the Association

          8  of the Bar of the City of New York.  I have

          9  submitted written testimony on behalf of the

         10  Association of the Bar, to the Sergeant- At- Arms.

         11                 I want to note that the Association

         12  of the Bar is a member organization of 20,000

         13  people.  It also, to my knowledge, is the only

         14  Association with a Committee organized around the

         15  death penalty.  We support the moratorium.

         16                 I would like to mention a couple of

         17  things first about the Moratorium.  We heard this

         18  morning about the Ryan Commission Reforms, the

         19  reforms established by Governor Ryan's Study

         20  Commission.  I would like to note that the City

         21  Council might want to look at other proposals

         22  besides those reforms such as those proposed by the

         23  Constitution Project; those proposed in Barry

         24  Scheck, Peter Neufeld, and Jim Dwyer's book, Actual

         25  Innocence, and those proposed in the ABA Protocols,
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          2  and you will hear from Ronald Tabak more about that,

          3  probably today.

          4                 Governor Ryan stated that when you

          5  establish the moratorium that until I can be sure

          6  with moral certainty that no innocent man or woman

          7  is facing a lethal injection, no one will meet that

          8  fate.  Governor Ryan spoke before the Association of

          9  the Bar on December 6th, 2000 before a standing room

         10  crowd, and his remarks are published at 75 St.

         11  John's Law Review, and I gave a copy of that to Mr.

         12  Petrone this morning, for you to read.  As far as I

         13  know it is his only published speech to date, but

         14  there may be others that follow.

         15                 Exoneration of the innocent can

         16  happen in many ways and not just through DNA.  It

         17  can happen even through technologies of which we are

         18  unaware of today and that will be discovered

         19  tomorrow.

         20                 I would like to call to your

         21  attention the decision of Judge Jed Rakoff in the

         22  United State District Court in the Southern District

         23  of New York, on April 25, 2002.  I gave a copy of

         24  that decision to Mr. Petrone.  Judge Rakoff

         25  threatened to declare the death penalty
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          2  unconstitutional at that time, and he noted that:

          3   "the issue is whether, now that we know the

          4  fallibility of our system in capital cases, capital

          5  punishment is unconstitutional because it creates an

          6  undue risk that a meaningful number of innocent

          7  persons, by being put to death before the emergence

          8  of the techniques or evidence that will establish

          9  their innocence, are thereby effectively deprived of

         10  the opportunity to prove their innocence."  In other

         11  words, there are technologies that we do not even

         12  know at this point that may come up in the future

         13  that may prove innocence.

         14                 He also added, and I thought this was

         15  a rather dramatic statement, that, "the inference is

         16  unmistakable that numerous innocent people have been

         17  executed whose innocence might otherwise have been

         18  similarly established, whether by newly developed

         19  scientific techniques, newly- discovered evidence,

         20  or simply renewed attention to their cases."

         21  Basically, the Federal Judge has made a finding that

         22  there have been executions of the innocent, or at

         23  least there is a fair inference to that effect.

         24                 I would like to note that execution

         25  of the innocent is not only a horrific act in
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          2  itself, but it is one that endangers the public

          3  safety.  Once a person is executed the criminal

          4  remains at large, the case is closed, and no one

          5  looks for them.  And then because of that, we are

          6  all unsafe.

          7                 I would like to make a few comments

          8  on death row, which is something the Association of

          9  the Bar has studied extensively, New York's death

         10  row and also others.  On New York's death row we

         11  have highly punitive conditions, which is a harsh

         12  punishment of its own.  We refer you to the

         13  Association of the Bar's report on death row called,

         14  Dying Twice, which in published in the Association's

         15  Record, and soon to be published in the Pace Law

         16  Review, and we are also going to be holding a

         17  program on June 17th, at six o'clock opened to the

         18  public on death row called, "Dying Twice:

         19  Incarceration on Death Row."   Dying Twice, meaning

         20  the death on death row, and the second death, which

         21  is the execution.

         22                 Is there a disadvantage to adopting a

         23  moratorium? We do not think so, and we are not

         24  putting murderers back on the street and

         25  compromising public safety.  A moratorium does not
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          2  abolish punishment.  Indeed, there may be important

          3  savings.  If a moratorium is reflected in fewer or

          4  even no capital cases, and we would like to

          5  distinguish between a moratorium and executions and

          6  a moratorium on all capital prosecutions, and we

          7  would like to urge you to look at the possibility of

          8  a moratorium on all capital prosecutions.  Such a

          9  thing would put a hold on a high cost of death

         10  penalty cases and consumption of all of the funds

         11  that are involved in the courts, et cetera.  These

         12  resources can be better used in prosecuting other

         13  crimes, the burglaries, the lesser crimes, the

         14  rapes, whatever.

         15                 Capital cases take enormous amounts

         16  of time, even to pick a jury, which the law says

         17  must be a special type of jury, namely, death

         18  qualified.  Some authorities have even suggested

         19  that cost could be better spent compensating the

         20  victim's family, giving them a fresh start, sending

         21  their children to college, where the Legislature is

         22  so inclined to spend the money on the victim's

         23  families, instead.

         24                 To some who say, ask why

         25  abolitionists support a moratorium when they believe
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          2  in the total abolition of the death penalty, we say

          3  the following:

          4                 The Association of the Bar supports

          5  incremental, gradual reform in the capital

          6  punishment system as it does in the rest of the

          7  Criminal Justice System.  It recognizes that all

          8  people do not make up their minds at the same time,

          9  and that political reality sometimes do not allow

         10  long needed change to occur at the same time.

         11                 And as one of my Committee members

         12  said, it is a phrase that I have never forgotten, he

         13  said, to the person spared through a moratorium, the

         14  moratorium is abolition.

         15                 We would also like to note, I guess

         16  in closing because my time is running out, that the

         17  death penalty is inconsistent with the rest of the

         18  Criminal Justice System. Throughout our system we do

         19  not punish the criminal in the same manners as the

         20  crime that he or she has committed.  The arsonist

         21  does not have her house burned down and we do not

         22  rape the rapist. Yet, with capital punishment we

         23  would kill the killer.  The Association of the Bar

         24  believes that there are ample means to protect

         25  society without capital punishment.
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          2                 The issue of capital punishment, I do

          3  not know the political makeup here, but it is not a

          4  Republican or Democratic, Liberal or Conservative

          5  issue.  It is a moral, philosophical, fairness,

          6  religious issue, and the final analysis, one of

          7  simple justice.

          8                 I would like to call your attention

          9  to the fact that in 1999, the Association of the Bar

         10  held a forum in which Dr. Pat Robertson, the head of

         11  the Christian Coalition spoke and it is published in

         12  28 Capital University Law Review, and Dr. Robertson

         13  supported a moratorium.  Some Conservatives have

         14  pointed out that capital punishment is just another

         15  government program, and they are not surprised that

         16  it does not work right.

         17                 The Association of the Bar urges that

         18  all persons of good will get behind this moratorium

         19  resolution, and that Resolution No. 12- A be passed.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

         22                 MR. DRATEL:   Good morning,

         23  Chairperson Clarke, thank you, Council members and

         24  staff, my name is Joshua Dratel.  I am speaking

         25  today on behalf of the New York State Association of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            52

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Criminal Defense Lawyers, of which I am the Vice-

          3  President, and also the National Association of

          4  Criminal Defense Lawyers.

          5                 The New York State Association of

          6  Criminal Defense Lawyers is the largest Association

          7  of Criminal Defense practitioners in the State of

          8  New York.  Our members represent many people, both

          9  within the State and throughout the United States

         10  who face the death penalty.  Our intimate

         11  understanding of how capital punishment, in fact,

         12  functions in a less than perfect Criminal Justice

         13  System, and in a society rife with racial and other

         14  bias, has compelled us to call for the abolition of

         15  the death penalty.

         16                 Short of that, a moratorium on

         17  capital prosecutions and executions could provide

         18  the necessary space for some genuine and meaningful

         19  study, reflection and debate free from the charged

         20  atmosphere that surrounds the State's putting human

         21  beings to death.

         22                 Today, I am also speaking on behalf

         23  of the National Association of Criminal Defense

         24  Lawyers, the nation's preeminent Criminal Defense

         25  Practitioner organization.  NACDL also supports
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          2  abolition of the death penalty as well as until that

          3  goal is achieved reforms that will reduce the risk

          4  of executing innocent persons and will ensure that

          5  all defendants are afforded due process, including

          6  adequate defense services.

          7                 And as part of the written submission

          8  for the record, which includes my statement orally,

          9  I have also respectively included the testimony, the

         10  written testimony submitted on behalf of NACDL today

         11  in Congress before the Senate Committee on the

         12  Judiciary with respect to the National Death Penalty

         13  Moratorium Act of 2001, which the Chairperson

         14  mentioned which is pending in Congress.  And that is

         15  from the President of the NACDL, Irwin Schwartz.

         16                 And also included is a statement from

         17  NACDL designed specifically for submission to the

         18  Council with respect to this hearing today.

         19                 It is the conceit of some New Yorkers

         20  that we live in a more enlightened state than those

         21  in the Death Belt that stretches from Florida to

         22  Texas.  However, when it comes to capital

         23  punishment, we are following the lead provided by

         24  those states. And in fact, in some instances, death

         25  penalty defendants face a harder task in this state.
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          2    It is New York that leads the nation historically

          3  in the number of documented innocent persons

          4  executed, as Ms. Lieberman mentioned earlier.  It is

          5  also the worst discovery process among the capital

          6  cases, that which is here in New York.

          7                 Also unlike other death penalty

          8  jurisdictions such as Illinois or the Federal

          9  Courts, New York State lacks any centralized control

         10  over a prosecutor's decision to seek death. That

         11  total discretion vested in the prosecutor has led to

         12  a completely arbitrary selection of defendants who

         13  face the death penalty, and it is really dependent

         14  on the county in which the crime is committed.  In

         15  fact, out of 62 counties, the majority of persons,

         16  the 62 counties in New York State, the majority of

         17  persons on death row come from a single county,

         18  Suffolk County.  And in addition, the decision-

         19  making process involves factors that have nothing to

         20  do with the defendant or the crime or any other

         21  legitimate factor, but instead have to do with

         22  budgetary considerations or political

         23  considerations.  And that adds to the arbitrariness,

         24  which is not reviewed by any, either court or

         25  institution other than the DA in that specific
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          2  county.

          3                 Race is also a pernicious factor in

          4  the capital punishment system in operation in New

          5  York State.  The historical studies are unequivocal,

          6  and the statistics are staggering in demonstrating

          7  how capital punishment systems disproportionately

          8  seek the execution of minority defendants.  For

          9  these reasons, New York's capital punishment statute

         10  violates State Constitution's prohibition of Cruel

         11  and Unusual Punishment and its guarantee of Equal

         12  Protection and Civil Rights.

         13                 The New York State Association of

         14  Criminal Defense Lawyers believes that no part of

         15  our government should consider or participate in

         16  executing anyone until each state has fully examined

         17  its system and implemented the reforms that are set

         18  forth in the Illinois Capital Punishment Study.

         19  There has bee a lot of talk in the Criminal Justice

         20  System about zero tolerance, and zero tolerance has

         21  been adopted in many facets of the Criminal Justice

         22  System, there should be absolutely zero tolerance

         23  for mistakes in the Capital Justice System,

         24  particularly when the stakes are the highest, and

         25  the mistakes the most irrevocable.
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          2                 In addition, specifically about New

          3  York Statute, it is full of other anomalies.  If the

          4  judge finds that a defendant is mentally retarded,

          5  the defendant cannot be sentenced to death, but if

          6  the jury finds him retarded, a death sentence still

          7  can be imposed.  If a defendant is charged with

          8  murder in the first degree, the DA has 120 days to

          9  make a decision whether to seek death.  However, if

         10  a defendant is charged with a less serious, second

         11  degree murder, there is no time limit on that

         12  decision. Such inconsistencies are the seeds for

         13  which unjust sentences result.

         14                 And also to discuss DNA, it really

         15  goes beyond DNA as other panelists have held, and

         16  DNA is established beyond question that certain

         17  persons who have been convicted, whose appeals have

         18  been exhausted and have languished on death row,

         19  they are, in fact, innocent.  And Councilman

         20  Perkins, who talked about fair trial, these are

         21  cases in which the Appellate Courts have deemed the

         22  trial fair, and all the appeals have been exhausted.

         23    So what you still have, even going down the road

         24  in the future, mistakes were made even in those

         25  cases.  And to rule out and to eliminate the
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          2  possibility of justice at a later time by putting

          3  someone to death is obviously more than just unjust,

          4  it is uncivilized.

          5                 And in the forensic testing aspect of

          6  it is not the only part of it, there is eyewitness

          7  identification, there are coerced confessions, there

          8  are other aspects of the Criminal Justice System

          9  that are responsible for wrongful convictions and so

         10  it is not just DNA.

         11                 And all these factors lead to the

         12  conclusion that we should take the time that a

         13  moratorium affords to examine completely the damage

         14  to individuals in society that is caused by capital

         15  punishment and the apparatus that arbitrarily,

         16  unfairly, and in a racially bias matter imposes the

         17  death penalty.

         18                 And as a result, we thank the Council

         19  for considering this moratorium and we support it

         20  and hope that it will pass.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

         23                 MR. TABAK:  Chairperson Clarke and

         24  members of the Committee, my name is Ronald Tabak.

         25  I'm testifying here on behalf of the American Bar
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          2  Association, and I would like, particularly, any

          3  members of the Committee who favor the death penalty

          4  to pay some special attention, because I am the

          5  first witness today to represent a group that has no

          6  position on the death penalty per se. But the

          7  American Bar Association was the first leading

          8  national group to call for a moratorium on

          9  executions, and last year, the New York State Bar

         10  Association, which also has no position in favor or

         11  against the death penalty per se, also called for a

         12  moratorium on executions.  This illustrates that you

         13  can be for the death penalty in principle, but favor

         14  a moratorium in practice.

         15                 Now why have these two leading groups

         16  that represent the most lawyers in the United States

         17  and the most lawyers in New York State called for a

         18  moratorium?  It is because we do not believe that

         19  there can be confidence in the accuracy or fairness

         20  of the current death penalty system, not some

         21  theoretical, pie in the sky system that does not

         22  exist, but the actual death penalty system that

         23  actually exists.  And our position is that until we

         24  can get fairness and equality and justice, there

         25  should not be executions carried out, although, you
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          2  can still go ahead with the prosecutions and

          3  sentence people to death.

          4                 Now what are the areas of unfairness

          5  that we have focused on?  And what I have given to

          6  you are the protocols that the American Bar

          7  Association section that I am involved with prepared

          8  last year to help State Legislative bodies analyze

          9  their state death penalty against these factors.

         10                 And what are the factors?  First of

         11  all, there is the quality of counsel and sadly

         12  people get sentenced to death more because of how

         13  inept their lawyer was than because of how bad their

         14  crime was, in many cases.  There is a lack of

         15  counsel in, after you are sentenced to death, after

         16  your first appeal, even in the New York system they

         17  do not guarantee you quality counsel after that.   There

         18  is a problem of the Courts shutting their doors to

         19  meritorious claims, because the trial lawyer

         20  negligently failed to object when the United States

         21  Constitution was violated at trial.  And/or even if

         22  the lawyer did object, if the United States Supreme

         23  Court did not rule on your claim when you raised it,

         24  they had not yet ruled on it, and then they later

         25  rule in favor of that same claim in somebody else's
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          2  case, you are barred from getting relief in the

          3  United States Courts.  And then even worse, if the

          4  State Court wrongfully denies your relief, but they

          5  are not unreasonable when they wrongfully deny your

          6  relief, our federal courts cannot grant you relief.

          7                 We then have the problem with racial

          8  discrimination in the death penalty, which has been

          9  talked about.  We have testified before Congress, I

         10  personally did, before Strom Thurman, trying to get

         11  Senator Thurman to do something about racial

         12  discrimination that is a pattern practice, because

         13  as Elaine Jones said, the Supreme Court said take it

         14  up to Legislative bodies, but Congress did not act

         15  on that pattern of racial discrimination.

         16                 Then there is the problem of people

         17  with mental retardation, which has been talked

         18  about.

         19                 And finally, there in addition to the

         20  problem with jurors, often not understanding the

         21  charges to the jury they are given, and jurors who

         22  automatically will vote for death, who should not be

         23  allowed on the jury, getting on the juries.

         24                 Finally, there is a problem of people

         25  with mental illness, and the fact that the lawyers
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          2  very often do not know that they have to delve into

          3  the person's background, find out that they may be a

          4  decorated Vietnam Veteran with post- traumatic

          5  stress disorder.  Well, the jury never knows that,

          6  then the person may be sentenced to death.

          7                 And so it is for these reasons, and

          8  the fact that we have seen that there is no rhyme or

          9  reason as to who winds up on death row, that there

         10  are a high percentage of people, even among those

         11  who are guilty, who get the death penalty in a

         12  totally arbitrary fashion, where people committed

         13  worse crimes who do not.           And then finally

         14  on the subject of innocence, in many of these cases,

         15  first of all, DNA evidence does not exist in most of

         16  the cases of the people on death row.  So you could

         17  have the world's greatest DNA testing and it would

         18  not do anything about most of the innocent cases on

         19  death row.  And ironically, some of the people who

         20  have been exonerated, have been exonerated only

         21  because the perpetrator not only killed the person,

         22  but also raped them, and therefore, there was DNA

         23  because of the rape.  If the innocent person have

         24  been convicted of only murder and there had not been

         25  a rape, the innocent person would have been
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          2  executed.

          3                 This is not a system that can stand a

          4  test of fairness.  Therefore, the American Bar

          5  Association is happy to join with the New York State

          6  Bar Association as groups that do not oppose the

          7  death penalty in principle, but do urge you to pass

          8  this resolution.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         11  much.  I would like to acknowledge that we have been

         12  joined by Council Member Tracy Boyland of Brooklyn,

         13  and our Minority Leader here at the City Council,

         14  Mr. Jimmy Oddo from Staten Island.

         15                 Are there any questions from my

         16  colleagues at this time?

         17                 I would like to thank our panelists

         18  for bringing your points of view to light.

         19                 I would like to call at this time,

         20  Professor Robert Blecker of the New York Law School.

         21                 MR. BLECKER:  Madam Chairperson and

         22  members of the Council, thank you for inviting me.

         23  To the best of my knowledge I am the only person, so

         24  far, well, it's clear, I'm the only person to speak

         25  in opposition to the proposed resolution, and may
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          2  well be the only person today to speak in opposition

          3  to the proposed resolution.  That by no means, means

          4  that I'm the only person in America in opposition to

          5  this resolution.  I like to think of myself, in

          6  fact, as representing the vast majority of the

          7  citizens of the United States of America, and

          8  probably the vast majority of the citizens of New

          9  York State and the City of New York.

         10                 The resolution, which you are

         11  considering today, is the wrong response to a real

         12  problem.  Resolution 12- A is based on an inaccurate

         13  and unsound premises, and the moratorium for which

         14  it calls is, in itself, unjust, unwise and

         15  disingenuous.  Furthermore, by what it fails to say,

         16  Resolution 12- A squanders an important opportunity

         17  for this distinguished and influential body, the New

         18  York City Council, to enter and influence an ongoing

         19  national debate in a constructive manner.

         20                 First, looking at the resolution

         21  itself.  It seems to be predicated largely, not only

         22  on its own findings, but on the findings of the

         23  proposed National Death Penalty Moratorium Act of

         24  2001, the federal companion piece of legislation

         25  which advocates passage on which it relies.  In that
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          2  particular piece of legislation, the statement is

          3  made that quotes support for the death penalty has

          4  dropped to the lowest level in 19 years.  A

          5  statement, which if it were ever true, it is

          6  certainly not accurate today in this post- September

          7  11th environment.

          8                 When Timothy McVeigh was executed,

          9  opinion polls showed that 83 percent of the American

         10  public was in favor of the execution.  Post-

         11  September 11th, if the right question were asked as

         12  to actual support for the death penalty for some

         13  people, for example, mass murdering terrorists, my

         14  guess is that well over 90 percent of the American

         15  public favors the death penalty in some

         16  circumstances, even abolitionist like Norman Redlick

         17  has publicly said at the New York City Bar

         18  Association that he supports the death penalty in

         19  very rare instances for genocide.

         20                 In any case, the proposed resolution

         21  is largely predicated upon a fear of executing the

         22  innocent and a feeling that race and class bias

         23  pervade the administration of the death penalty.

         24  But again, this resolution simplifies a very complex

         25  problem and offers the wrong solution, so let me
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          2  briefly go through its fundamental predicates to

          3  show that they are wrong.

          4                 First, error itself, executing the

          5  innocent.  No responsible opponent of the death

          6  penalty claims, to the best of my knowledge, that a

          7  single, factually innocent, convicted and condemned

          8  murderer awaits execution in New York or the Federal

          9  system, not one.  Nobody on Federal death row even

         10  claims their own innocence.

         11                 The Liebman Study, the Columbia

         12  Study, not only distorts the extraordinarily high

         13  degree of accuracy and determinations of factual

         14  guilt, but it disguises abolitionism in the form of

         15  traditional overrides.  For example, in

         16  Pennsylvania, 19 out of the last 19 death penalty

         17  cases that have gone before the Federal Courts have

         18  been reversed on appeal.  They are not reversed on

         19  the basis of substantive error, they are reversed on

         20  the basis of hypertechnical readings by federal

         21  judges, who are themselves, abolitionists.  In fact,

         22  although 750 executions, as the resolution notes,

         23  have taken place in the modern era, not one

         24  demonstrably innocent defendant has been executed.

         25                 Class is another concern.  The
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          2  standard portrait of poor killers represented by

          3  under- qualified counsel has been presented to you

          4  today and is presented by the resolution itself.

          5  That fundamentally distorts the reality in New York,

          6  in the federal system and in most states today.  But

          7  it also does a great injustice to the dedicated and

          8  highly qualified and well funded defense counsel in

          9  capital cases in these and most systems.

         10                 I notice that Russell Neufeld will

         11  probably speak later, is here, he is the head of one

         12  such office, the quality of their representation is

         13  outstanding, they are a bunch of dedicated lawyers.

         14  And to say and portray it as if capital cases in New

         15  York are being represented by defense counsels who

         16  are unprepared and incompetent is, itself, a

         17  fundamental distortion that does them a great

         18  disservice.  Whatever the abuses of the past,

         19  whatever the problems in other states, the fact is

         20  that in New York and the federal system every

         21  defendant who faces possible execution is

         22  extraordinarily well represented from start to

         23  finish.

         24                 Race, moving on quickly.  The nagging

         25  feeling persists that minorities face the death
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          2  penalty disproportionately because of

          3  discrimination, and it fuels the movement to do

          4  something about the present administration of the

          5  death penalty. Again, the problem is real, but it is

          6  much more complex than presented and the solution is

          7  wrong.  Of all the studies which have been cited and

          8  widely cited by death penalty opponents observe that

          9  the chances of executing a white defendant, all

         10  other circumstances of the crime being equal, are

         11  substantially greater than executing a similarly

         12  situated black defendant.  Repeat, the chances of

         13  executing a white is substantially greater than

         14  executing a black defendant.

         15                 The Bureau of Justice Statistics have

         16  shown beyond any doubt that on average the time it

         17  takes to execute a black once condemned to death is

         18  substantially longer than the time it takes to

         19  execute a white once condemned to death.  There is

         20  unquestionably a race of victim effect, not a race

         21  of defendant effect.  A race of victim effect.  But

         22  again, the explanation that this somehow cheapens

         23  black life is simply wrong, it is much more complex

         24  than that.  In so far as support for the death

         25  penalty is lower in the black community, and the
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          2  vast majority of murders are same race killings

          3  where the victim's family has input into the

          4  prosecutorial decision whether to seek a death

          5  penalty, a black victim's family is much more likely

          6  to oppose the death penalty, and therefore, the

          7  prosecutor is much less likely to proceed with it.

          8                 Yet, the feeling that race accounts

          9  for the death penalty persists and for good reason.

         10  As later Baldus' studies have show and the most

         11  recent Liebman study suggests, and Justice Steven

         12  suggested in the McCleskey v. Kemp, the racial

         13  disparity is almost exclusively located among

         14  capital cases of mid- range severity, most

         15  significantly, robbery, felony, murders.  Where

         16  death penalty eligibility is most sparingly defined

         17  and applied, where the death penalty is really

         18  reserved only for the worst of the worst, there,

         19  race and ethnicity as a concern virtually drops out.

         20                 Geography.  If we must have it, this

         21  resolution implicitly supports, "uniform application

         22  of the death penalty from county to county

         23  throughout the state."  Is this call for consistency

         24  in this proposed resolution really candid?  Would

         25  the City Council, for example, urge Manhattan DA
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          2  Morgenthau honestly to admit that he will never

          3  permit a death penalty prosecution in New York

          4  County?  Or will fellow abolitionists continue to

          5  encourage him to kill the penalty in New York

          6  County, to flout the intention, the clear intention

          7  of the people and their representatives in state

          8  government who enacted a statute, by a DA who now

          9  pretends to be willing, but refuses ever to apply

         10  it?  Do supporters of this resolution really desire

         11  a uniform application across counties, or is the

         12  uniformity now sought uniformly to allow the death

         13  penalty, itself, to whither, entirely unused and die

         14  a quiet death?

         15                 Geographical diversity, whether

         16  within a state or the United States is a complex

         17  constitutional issue.  The Council's resolution

         18  here, ironically, is at odds with the very proposed

         19  federal moratorium, which seriously questions,

         20   "whether the federal government should seek the

         21  death penalty in a state with no death penalty?"

         22  Thus suggesting the very geographical disparity

         23  within a single jurisdiction of administration that

         24  the Council resolution fundamentally criticizes.

         25                 Next issue, cost.  Resolution 12- A
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          2  boldly declares that, "the death penalty has

          3  consistently been demonstrated to cost more than

          4  life without parole."  For those of us who support,

          5  or oppose capital punishment on grounds of human

          6  dignity or justice, which I do, cost is not a

          7  factor.  Death as a punishment is right or wrong,

          8  independently of its cost.  But, if one is confining

          9  oneself to cost as a utilitarian, the studies that

         10  have shown the death penalty to be more expensive

         11  fail to include a couple of factors.

         12                 1.  And you have heard some testimony

         13  by William Schulz, among others, that the evidence

         14  is equivocal about deterrence.  What has not been

         15  stated is that the last two studies, sophisticated

         16  analyses coming out of Emery University and the

         17  University of Colorado show unequivocally that the

         18  death penalty has a significantly greater deterrent

         19  effect than its principle alternative, life without

         20  parole.  In terms of cost, the innocent lives saved

         21  is certainly part of the benefit of the death

         22  penalty, and the innocent lives lost is certainly

         23  part of the cost of failing to impose it.  But

         24  beyond that, the studies also fail, to the best of

         25  my knowledge, to take account of increasing
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          2  geriatric care expenses attaching to it at the

          3  latter stages of the lives of those who are

          4  committed to life without parole.  And further and

          5  most significantly, the studies fail to take account

          6  of the hundreds of thousands of dollars saved in

          7  each instance where a murderer pleads guilty and

          8  forfeits a trial and an expensive appeal, because

          9  and only because the guilty plea is the only way to

         10  avoid a real possibility of execution.

         11                 When all these additional costs of

         12  life, or savings from death are included, it becomes

         13  far from "demonstrable" that the death penalty costs

         14  more than life without parole.  A call for a

         15  moratorium should not be based strictly on cost

         16  calculations, nor is this one.

         17                 And finally, before I move to what

         18  should be done, the final problem with the

         19  moratorium, as proposed, is its immorality.  It is

         20  fundamentally immoral.  Many supporters of this

         21  moratorium, if they were to be honest with

         22  themselves and with the people of the State of New

         23  York, see it as a back door way to abolition.  It

         24  has almost been conceded by some of the testimony

         25  today.  Unable to end the practice outright in the
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          2  teeth of overwhelming public support, even though

          3  you will not find it in this room, they would join

          4  earlier generations of abolitionists, including the

          5  NAACP Legal Defense Fund, a great organization which

          6  has done great work, as has Amnesty International,

          7  and they would destroy the punishment by staying it,

          8  while purportedly studying it in order to improve

          9  it.

         10                 A moratorium is simply immoral.  It

         11  perpetuates indefinitely the lives of the most

         12  heinous members of society. Almost everyone feels

         13  that the worst murderers deserve the most severe

         14  punishment.  But punishment is more than its

         15  duration, life is more than a number. It is an

         16  experience.  Life on death row, which would continue

         17  during the moratorium is hardly the living hell as

         18  commonly portrayed.

         19                 A recent front page article by

         20  William Glaberson in the New York Times, a newspaper

         21  unalterably opposed to the death penalty and

         22  probably the leading abolitionist newspaper in the

         23  United States, chronicles the so- called monochrome

         24  life on New York's death row, albeit most bleakly.

         25  True that the six condemned prisoners there have

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            73

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  televisions in their cells.  But they are black and

          3  white TVs. "When they talk about the Mets, or play

          4  Scrabble, they must shout through the bars,

          5  breakfast at 7:30, dinner at 4:30, in between there

          6  is exercise, television and lunch at noon."

          7                  "I cannot hug my mom and tell her,

          8  Mom I love you," complains Steven LaValle, the

          9  reporter's principal source for life on death row.

         10  In May 1998, LaValle raped and repeatedly stabbed a

         11  stranger jogging near her home.  The victim, Cynthia

         12  Quinn was a 32- year- old high school arts teacher

         13  and mother of two.  I wonder if her children can hug

         14  her and tell her, Mom, I love you.  Life on death

         15  row is not a living hell, far from it, it is life,

         16  an undeserved source of continuing pleasure, which a

         17  moratorium would perpetuate indefinitely.

         18                 Perhaps the most pernicious effect of

         19  this proposed moratorium would be to corrode our

         20  sense of justice and undermine our faith in

         21  democracy.  After years in which abolitionist

         22  Governors subverted the will of the people, New York

         23  finally has a death penalty statute, which provides

         24  super due process.

         25                 All right then, what should the City

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            74

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Council do, if it should not enact this moratorium?

          3  Resolution 12- A properly acknowledges and decries

          4  that there are 3,700 people on death row across the

          5  United States.  That number is grotesquely large.

          6  Most people on death row do not deserve to be there.

          7    Not because they are factually innocent, they are

          8  not.  But because although they have committed

          9  murder, they are not the worst of the worst.  Thus

         10  they do not deserve to die.  This society needs to

         11  radically revise and refine its death penalty

         12  statutes.  First and foremost, New York and every

         13  other state should drop its robbery murder

         14  aggravator, which puts more people on death row than

         15  all other aggravators combined.  That is only the

         16  beginning of a process of moral revision.  At the

         17  same time it mostly shrinks it, New York should

         18  expand its class of death eligible to include those

         19  who kill with a depraved indifference to human life.

         20                 Today, there seems to be a growing

         21  consensus, expressed by the Illinois Commission, the

         22  Liebman Study, and the constitution Project, all of

         23  which has been referred to, shared by opponents and

         24  retributive advocates alike that at the very least,

         25  the class of death eligible needs to be rethought
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          2  and morally refined.   But the resolution does not

          3  call for that, it focuses on process, it does not

          4  focus on substance.  If the City Council would

          5  influence and contribute to that progress, it should

          6  establish a Commission to study and recommend

          7  changes in New York's statute.

          8                 In the meantime, the City Council

          9  should recommend a more morally refined approach to

         10  executions.  Neither an indiscriminate moratorium,

         11  nor an continuation of our present haphazard order

         12  will do.  Rather, instead, I urge you to urge Chief

         13  Executives across the states and of the United

         14  States, only to sign death warrants of the worst of

         15  the worst, and among them, when it comes time for

         16  executions, let there be a rational, reasonable and

         17  emotionally and morally supportable order, not

         18  randomly among the death eligible, not randomly

         19  among the condemned, no moratorium, but worst-

         20  first.

         21                 There is so much to respond to in

         22  terms of what others have said, I hope in your

         23  questions, you will give me an opportunity.  But

         24  that completes my statement.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

          3  Professor Blecker. I have a question for you,

          4  because it seems a point there is some contradiction

          5  in your testimony.  You reiterated time and time

          6  again in your testimony that the issue was complex.

          7  And I think in the spirit of a moratorium, that is

          8  what it is calling to address those complexities,

          9  how do we break it down to the its simplest

         10  denominators so that all of these issues that come

         11  into play that are so subjective within how the

         12  death penalty is applied in the State of New York

         13  can address justice in the purest sense of justice.

         14  We are not calling for an end to the death penalty,

         15  and I know that you, there was that implication, and

         16  perhaps even in some of the testimony, we are

         17  calling for a moratorium.

         18                 And in your statement of what the

         19  City Council should do, you said that this society

         20  needs to radically revise and refine its death

         21  penalty statute, it seems to me that that is, in

         22  itself, calling for a moratorium.  Because I do not

         23  see how you could proceed with death penalty

         24  proceedings, while revising and refining it at the

         25  same time.
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          2                 So if you could just comment on that?

          3                 MR. BLECKER:  Surely.  To call for a

          4  moratorium, as your proposal does, to quote,

          5   "suspend executions until all of the urgent issues

          6  surrounding the use of capital punishment are

          7  resolved."  Given that the debate has been going on

          8  for 2,500 years, since the Ancient Greeks and the

          9  Old Testament, to call for a moratorium until all

         10  the urgent issues are resolved is the same thing as

         11  to call for abolition.  Because all of the urgent

         12  issues surrounding the death penalty will never be

         13  resolved.

         14                 So, first response is, that a

         15  moratorium is abolitionism in disguise if it is

         16  taken as seriously as your resolution calls for.

         17                 Second, which is not contradictory

         18  but complimentary, is the ready acknowledgement, and

         19  much of my professional career is spent in trying to

         20  educate and alert the public that, though I am a

         21  supporter of the death penalty for all but only

         22  those who deserve it, most people on death row do

         23  not deserve it.  There is no inconsistency.  What it

         24  says is when it comes time to execute an individual

         25  who has been found guilty and is factually guilty
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          2  under the criteria as established by the various

          3  legislatures, then it comes time for the executive

          4  decision of clemency and the executive prerogative

          5  which we traditionally have had.  The executive

          6  takes a look at each case on a case- by case basis

          7  in depth and asks her or himself the question, does

          8  this individual, notwithstanding the fact that they

          9  are factually guilty of the murder, notwithstanding

         10  the fact that they have been condemned to death

         11  under criteria that have been established by the

         12  Legislature, in additionally, can I say not only

         13  beyond a reasonable doubt, not only to a factual

         14  certainty, can I say to a moral certainty that this

         15  individual deserves to die?  And if a Chief

         16  Executive cannot say that, then the Chief Executive

         17  should commute the sentence to life without parole.

         18                 A moratorium is a wholesale, blunt

         19  instrument, which is the wrong kind of instrument to

         20  be addressed to a very complex problem, which should

         21  be looked at case- by- case.  Yes, some of us, and I

         22  am included, feel that some states are executing too

         23  haphazardly.  That some states are not really

         24  agonizing before they put an individual to death.

         25  New York is not among them.
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          2                 There are six people on death row.

          3  The very fact that the Harris case came up before

          4  the New York Court of Appeals has occasion to speak

          5  of agony and serious consideration, it will continue

          6  that way.  So it is case- by- case, the two calls

          7  and the acknowledgement that there is serious

          8  defects in the system are by no means inconsistent,

          9  they are complimentary.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well what would

         11  you suggest we do in the meantime, if the complex

         12  issues you raised leads to the execution of someone

         13  who is not the worst of the worst?

         14                 MR. BLECKER:  What can the City

         15  Council do about that?  Nothing.  That is ultimately

         16  Executive prerogative.  But in the meantime, what I

         17  suggest you do, is to call for the establishment of

         18  a Commission.  The Illinois Commission did good

         19  work.  The Constitution Project did good work.  The

         20  Liebman Study is a very important study.

         21                 The New York City Council can now

         22  move the dialogue forward significantly by

         23  establishing a Commission under your auspices to

         24  revisit the death penalty, but not only, I urge you,

         25  not only the procedure, look at the substance, look
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          2  at the categories.  For example, one of the

          3  aggravators is that a person who is in for life

          4  kills again, kills a Correction Officer or kills

          5  somebody else, a prisoner, who kills again is

          6  somehow more deserving of death.

          7                 My experience of 2,000 hours inside

          8  Laurelton Central Prison interviewing convicted

          9  killers to probe their lives and their minds, has

         10  shown me beyond any doubt that many murders that

         11  take place in prison, while terrible because they

         12  are murder, are not the worst of the worst.  That is

         13  an aggravator that should be dropped, as I said,

         14  felony murder should be dropped.

         15                 So what I urge you to do in the

         16  meantime, is establish a Committee or a Commission

         17  to look into New York's Death Penalty Statute, and

         18  not only how it is administered, but primarily, how

         19  the categories are defined.  And where they are

         20  misdefined, where they are way too broad, or where

         21  there is something morally wrong, like felony

         22  murder, they should be dropped.  That is what I urge

         23  you to do.  Not a moratorium, which will then just

         24  be dismissed as, oh, another city weighs in because

         25  of organized support for a moratorium and
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          2  unorganized opposition to it.  You notice there are

          3  not organizations represented here, because

          4  proponents of the death penalty do not tend to be

          5  organized, they tend to just be individual

          6  advocates.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Do you agree

          8  with the recommendations of the Illinois Commission?

          9                 MR. BLECKER:  I agree with some of

         10  them, and disagree with others.  The call for the

         11  dropping of felony murder, I agree with.  However,

         12  the shrinking of the categories to five, omit the

         13  most important one, in my view, which is especially

         14  heinous, atrocious and cruel, because the essence of

         15  the death penalty desert really comes down to

         16  cruelty and heinousness.  Now I understand the

         17  problems of definition, I understand the boundary

         18  questions, that as the boundary, almost anything can

         19  be qualified as, especially heinous, atrocious and

         20  cruel.  And that requires a commitment on the part

         21  of society to take it seriously.

         22                 But just because I cannot tell you

         23  when day become night, does not mean that I do not

         24  know that 12:00 noon is day and 12:00 midnight is

         25  night.  In the extreme cases of the sadistic serial
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          2  killers, who brutally mutilate and rape before they

          3  kill, we have midnight.  We have a situation in

          4  which it is heinous, atrocious and cruel,

          5  especially, and it is clear.

          6                 So that is one of the Illinois'

          7  recommendations that I reject.  Also dropping hired

          8  killers from the list of those who deserve it, I

          9  also reject.  However, I would expand it in terms of

         10  a class bias to rethink the question of corporate

         11  executives who act in especially heinous and

         12  atrocious and cruel manner with a depraved

         13  indifference to human life, and maintain deadly work

         14  conditions, and do not care that their employees,

         15  often third world and minority employees are subject

         16  to unspeakably, horrible deaths. And yet somehow

         17  they are not only not convicted or executed, they

         18  are rarely indicted, and if indicted, they are

         19  indicted for lessor crimes.

         20                 So yes, the class bias and the race

         21  bias that I think, that I know, that I feel pervades

         22  the system, does not pervade the system primarily in

         23  the administration of the death penalty.  It

         24  pervades the system in the definition of the death

         25  penalty, and that is where the committees and that
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          2  is where the Council's attention, in my view, should

          3  be focused, primarily upon the definition of the

          4  death penalty to make sure that there is justice

          5  done, that it is equally applied, that we get rid of

          6  the class and race bias that infects the way we

          7  define death eligible crimes, even more than the way

          8  we administer it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Reverend Diaz,

         10  Council Member Diaz of the Bronx.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Thank you,

         12  Madam Chairlady. I would like to really commend you

         13  for your courage, because you are the only one that

         14  is opposing this resolution, and to do this in an

         15  environment that is not politically correct takes

         16  some kind of courage.  So I congratulate you for

         17  speaking your mind and telling us exactly what is

         18  what you prefer.

         19                 But I have some question that I would

         20  like for you, you can clarify for me.  First, you

         21  said that first and foremost New York and every

         22  other state should drop its robbery murder

         23  aggravator.  Could you tell me, explain to me?

         24                 MR. BLECKER:  Yes.  Felony murder in

         25  its origin was a crime of unclear and unsupportable
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          2  (sic) legal fictions.  That is, in New York and

          3  virtually in every other state, the fact that a

          4  murder was committed by a robber in the course of

          5  and the furtherance of the robbery is held to

          6  aggravate that murder and make it death eligible.

          7  And what is behind it, I think, is the assumption

          8  that it is somehow pecuniarily motivated.  But when

          9  you listen to robbers, when you probe the

         10  situations, that occasion robbery felony murder, is

         11  what you find is that most often robbery murder is

         12  not pecuniary in motivation.  The robbery was, one

         13  robs from a pecuniary motive, but one does not kill

         14  from a pecuniary motive.

         15                 So for example, I would make the

         16  moral distinction between the robber who draws the

         17  gun and says to the victim, okay, you know what this

         18  is, give it up.  And the victim hands over the

         19  wallet and then the robber shoots him anyway, either

         20  to eliminate him as a witness or just for the hell

         21  of it versus a robber who says give it up, pulls a

         22  gun, and the victim say goes for the gun and they

         23  wrestle over the gun, and then the robber kills the

         24  victim.  In both cases murder has been committed,

         25  only in the first does the robber deserve to die,
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          2  and not because of the robbery.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Okay, but when

          4  both incidents happen, the two of them are alone,

          5  only one standing up.  How do we know what was the

          6  situation?

          7                 MR. BLECKER: Well you do not.  You do

          8  not always, and you do not to a moral certainty.

          9  And where you have that uncertainty in the end, then

         10  you cannot condemn someone to die.

         11                 The part of the call, from the

         12  Liebman Study and from the Illinois Report,

         13  especially the Liebman Study, which I endorse, is

         14  that we need a different standard of proof for the

         15  death penalty then we do in every other situation.

         16                 What the Liebman Report calls for is

         17  proof to an absolute certainty.  That is absurd.

         18  You are not sitting here absolutely certain that the

         19  ceiling will not cave in and crash down and kill

         20  you.  Yet, you subject your life to it.  But there

         21  is something higher that is required, and that is

         22  proof beyond a reasonable doubt and proof to a moral

         23  certainty.

         24                 So to answer your question directly,

         25  where we have a residual doubt, either factual or
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          2  moral that the individual defendant qualifies under

          3  the aggravators as more narrowly drawn and more

          4  morally correct, then we cannot condemn him to die.

          5  That we owe to the protection of innocence and the

          6  presumption of innocence.  So if we do not have the

          7  evidence, then we do not have the penalty.  But

          8  where we do have the evidence - -

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I am a

         10  Conservative Democrat, and I am very happy and very

         11  proud to say it.

         12                 MR. BLECKER:  I do not find that a

         13  contradiction at all.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I have some

         15  kind of personal battle with myself right now.  You

         16  say the resolution reference to increasing public

         17  awareness of individual wrongfully convicted of

         18  murder in New York is possibly an irrelevant.  That

         19  is exactly what is my problem, because I for one, I

         20  have no problem with the parenting, but I can find

         21  in people being released from prison. Like a year,

         22  two years ago, two guys, last year, two guys got

         23  released after 16 years, and it kept hitting me, if

         24  those guys would have been put to death, then what?

         25  And even though I have no problem with it, I cannot
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          2  let it go the way it is, then it continue going the

          3  way it is because we do not have the right tools to

          4  decide who is really guilty and who is really

          5  innocent.  And that is my only question here.

          6                 MR. BLECKER:  The part of my

          7  statement that you just read, which I did not

          8  include in the oral comment, is to suggest that if a

          9  significant number, and I do not know them, of

         10  people are being wrongfully convicted of murder in

         11  New York, it is not strictly relevant to the

         12  question of the death penalty and a death penalty

         13  moratorium.  Because those people whom we should be

         14  focused upon are not just all murderers in terms of

         15  wrongful conviction, they are capital murderers.

         16  And there is something about the death penalty that

         17  rightly brings out the greatest concern for proof

         18  beyond a reasonable doubt and even proof to a moral

         19  certainty, although we do not articulate it.

         20                 So the relevant question here is not

         21  have murderers been convicted who were factually

         22  innocent.  It is rather, have murderers, have

         23  capital murderers been convicted who are factually

         24  innocent?  And then we have a process, we have a

         25  remarkably super due process that weeds out the
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          2  wrongfully convicted.

          3                 The fact is that people have come

          4  close to being executed who have been factually

          5  innocent, not many, but some.  And that is

          6  terrifying, and that is terrible.  But it is also

          7  remarkable, as I pointed out, that of 750 people

          8  that we have executed in the United States since

          9  1977, not one has been demonstrably innocent,

         10  factually innocent, not one, which is a remarkable

         11  testimony to a country and a system, which is

         12  fundamentally devoted to making sure that the

         13  innocent shall not be executed.  Many more have been

         14  convicted, but none have provably been executed.  Is

         15  it possible that some who have not been provably

         16  executed, have been executed, yes, it is possible.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  I, again, you

         18  know, it is very, very worrisome to me, I really

         19  worry about the thinking only of finding that one

         20  person put to death and was innocent.  And on the

         21  other hand, as I said before, have continually

         22  having those taxi drivers get killed, those bodogeos

         23  (phonetic), what would we do to those killers,

         24  terrorists that killed so many people in the World

         25  Trade Center?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, my

          3  colleague, we have two more questions from our

          4  colleagues, I would like to have them make those

          5  comments, and then we will be voting on this

          6  resolution.  So I would like to ask your indulgence

          7  at this time, Council member, and ask that Council

          8  Member Sanders, Jr. Raise your question at this

          9  time, followed by Council Member Monserrate with

         10  your question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair. First, Professor, I would like to

         13  applaud you, you have argued your position well.

         14  There are some very, very interesting things that

         15  any wise person needs to study and look into on this

         16  issue.  I especially enjoyed your looking at the

         17  class positions where there are killers who are able

         18  to get away with things, that a white collar

         19  criminal who may have allowed some gas disaster in

         20  some third world country that kills far more people

         21  than any one of these criminals running the street,

         22  somehow eludes justice.  Or a white collar

         23  pharmacist who decides that he will not, for the

         24  sake a few dollars or many dollars for that matter,

         25  that he will change the formula and slowly allow

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            90

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  patients to die.  I agree with you that the death

          3  penalty, if there were a death penalty and if it

          4  were to be fairly applied, I certainly can see a

          5  worst- first with some of these folks.

          6                 I just want to bring you, just a

          7  question or two, to bring you to the issue of race

          8  for a moment.  While you were able to show, and you

          9  have done some good work in showing the greater

         10  disparity that you were speaking about.  I notice

         11  that you did not take into account the question of

         12  that the blacks are arrested more, indicted more,

         13  prosecuted more and convicted more in these cases.

         14  Which of course we can argue, is this a fair, is

         15  what is going on fair?  How would you explain these

         16  things, Sir?

         17                 MR. BLECKER:  First, as to the white

         18  collar, I applaud you, and we, obviously,

         19  fundamentally agree.  The term I like to use is red

         20  collar killers, because the collar is right, but the

         21  color is wrong.  And as your reference to Robert

         22  Cortney, the pharmacist, yes, you and I are one.  He

         23  is, in my view, the very worst of the worst and

         24  would be the first to go, if he could be executed.

         25                 One need not look to the third world,
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          2  however, for other corporate executives, one can

          3  look to the executives of the Ford Motor Company who

          4  manufactured the Pinto knowing that hundreds of

          5  people would die in rear end collisions, be

          6  eliminated on the highways, and instead calculating

          7  the costs of defending lawsuits and decided that it

          8  was cheaper to allow the hundreds to die than it was

          9  to modify the Pinto.

         10                 As to your question about race and

         11  the disproportionate arrest figures.  Yes, in my

         12  view the principle problem there is definitional.

         13  It would go back to felony murder. Blacks are

         14  committing a disproportionate number of the

         15  robberies, and in so far then why is it in terms of

         16  the population, but it is not in and of itself an

         17  aggravating circumstance and it should not be, not

         18  morally, but it is legally.

         19                 As if we revise the death penalty and

         20  fundamentally refine it to really get to the worst

         21  of the worst, what we will discover, as Justice

         22  Stevens pointed out in McCleskey, and as Baldus,

         23  himself, as pointed out in his more recent studies,

         24  as well as his original study, that the disparate

         25  racial effect, and the Liebman Study also, that the
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          2  disparate racial effect virtually disappears.  It is

          3  almost all located in the mid- range level of

          4  seriousness in the cases that should not be death

          5  penalty cases, but are death penalty cases.

          6                 The drug cases, some states have a

          7  drug aggravator. New York does not, happily.  There

          8  should never a drug aggravator, that does not make

          9  it morally more heinous that one kills, in fact, it

         10  often makes it less heinous, because it is part,

         11  it's the expected response, it's part of the game,

         12  it's understood and it's agreed to.   Now that does

         13  not mean it is innocent, it's still murder, but the

         14  people often who kill someone who runs off with a

         15  package for example, do not deserve to die thereby.

         16  And again, since, because of economic deprivation,

         17  because these kinds of crimes are disproportionately

         18  committed by minority communities, members of

         19  minority communities, the net result, the way it

         20  translates out into, is a disproportionate impact on

         21  the minority community in terms of those who are

         22  death eligible.

         23                 So if we are really serious about the

         24  race bias, my view is the best thing we can do, is

         25  redefine the aggravators, drop the robbery murder
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          2  aggravator, drop the drug aggravator, and you will

          3  watch about 80 percent of the racially disparate

          4  effect of the death penalty disappear.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Allow me a

          6  quick follow- up, Sir, and I just want to pursue

          7  your logic for a moment.  How do you stand on, and

          8  it may be a little bit different, but bear with me,

          9  how do you stand on the Rockefeller Drug Laws?

         10                 MR. BLECKER:  I think they are

         11  grotesque.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  At least

         13  your logic - -

         14                 MR. BLECKER:  I think they are

         15  horrible.  The fact that we are giving out life

         16  sentences, after all, those who are against the

         17  death penalty, are calling for life in prison or

         18  life without parole, now that for the very worst of

         19  the crimes.  How could you possibly call for a

         20  punishment, when you are giving out that same

         21  punishment to some people who are selling a drug to

         22  a willing buyer, where nobody is injured, just

         23  because they are selling it at great quantities?

         24  The Rockefeller Drug Laws are fundamentally immoral,

         25  we have a society that is engaged in prohibition
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          2  right now, and we do not recognize it for what it is

          3  and has been.  We realize that the first prohibition

          4  in alcohol was absurd, and the current prohibition

          5  is also absurd.

          6                 Yes, drugs are a problem, but the

          7  response to the problem in terms of the length of

          8  the penalty and the indiscriminate use of them

          9  primarily against minority community members is

         10  grotesque and immoral.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  At least

         12  your logic is consistent.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Council Member

         14  Monserrate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         16  you, Madam Chair. In your testimony you said that

         17  most people on death row do not deserve to be there.

         18    You also testified that the complexities, perhaps,

         19  would never really, truly be resolved.  There are a

         20  lot of issues, there are a lot of complexities race,

         21  social economic factors, our flawed Criminal Justice

         22  System and so forth.  So I'm a little bit at odds

         23  understanding where you, how on one hand you are

         24  stating that most people on death row should not be

         25  there, but they are on death row.
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          2                 MR. BLECKER:  Thank is correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So if we

          4  do not have the moratorium, the people, who by your

          5  own admission should not be on death row, are

          6  ultimately going to be killed.  So are you saying

          7  that it is okay to kill the people who do not

          8  deserve to be on death row?

          9                 MR. BLECKER:  First, let me point out

         10  that the leading cause of death on death row is old

         11  age in the United States.  Most people on death row

         12  will never be executed, only a small proportion will

         13  be.

         14                 Second, the vast majority of people

         15  who are on death row, who I say do not belong there,

         16  are nevertheless guilty of murder, but they are not

         17  the worst of the worst.

         18                 And then finally, how do I deal with

         19  that?  Any time somebody is executed in this

         20  society, for example, on the basis of felony murder

         21  alone, my view is that a grave injustice has been

         22  done.  We have taken someone who deserves to spend

         23  the rest of his life in prison and instead we have

         24  executed him.  We still executed a murderer.

         25                 Now my response to you, directly, is
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          2  that the Executive is the proper branch of

          3  government to deal with that question once they have

          4  been found to be death eligible.  The Legislature

          5  should be dealing with it up front and hopefully

          6  will as a result of a wholesale moral revision and

          7  refinement of the death penalty categories.  But

          8  when people have been condemned to die under the old

          9  categories and do not deserve to die and are

         10  presently on death row, at that point before any

         11  Governor signs any death warrant, a detailed

         12  investigation should be taken and is to be taken

         13  into the background and the circumstances and the

         14  character of the criminal, as well as the

         15  circumstances of the crime.  And if, and only if,

         16  the Governor can say to her or himself, beyond a

         17  reasonable doubt and to a moral certainty that this

         18  individual person, not only for this crime, but for

         19  who he is, deserves to die, then that death warrant

         20  should be signed and an execution should go forward.

         21                 So it is a matter of decision of

         22  responsibility.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I

         24  understand that.  But, since you are the person that

         25  is testifying here today, I am really, I am asking
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          2  you.  I know what the Governor can do, he can

          3  commute a death sentence, there are a lot of things

          4  that he can do, and there are appeals that can be,

          5  but by your own admission, there are people on death

          6  row who should not be there, who are supposed to be

          7  killed by the government at whatever given time and

          8  day.

          9                 And what I'm saying is, for you, your

         10  answer, and I do not want you to put it on the

         11  Governor or what someone else is supposed to be,

         12  what I'm saying is, you are saying in your testimony

         13  that there are people on death row that should not

         14  be there, but at the same time you are saying that

         15  you do not support a moratorium.  And I think there

         16  is a contradiction there.

         17                 MR. BLECKER:  No, there is no

         18  contradiction, 80 percent of the people on death row

         19  do not belong there.  Almost nobody should be on

         20  death row for any extended period of time, 80

         21  percent of them should be released to general

         22  population, 20 percent of them should be executed.

         23                 But, but, given the fact that they

         24  are there, responsibility has to be dispersed.  I

         25  remind you, Justice Blackmun and Furman, who
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          2  dissented against essentially imposing a moratorium

          3  on the death penalty in the United States, and he

          4  said, I have been against the death penalty my whole

          5  life.  If I were Governor, I would commute the

          6  sentences, if I were a legislator, I would vote

          7  against the death penalty legislation, but I am a

          8  United States Supreme Court Justice and it is

          9  ultimately not for me to decide this question, it is

         10  for the state to decide for themselves.

         11                 Similarly I would say to you, if I

         12  were a Governor, I would commute all those sentences

         13  of those who do not deserve it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank you

         15  very much. That was the answer I was trying to hear,

         16  thank you.  You answered my question.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

         18  much, and thank you for your testimony, Professor.

         19                 I would like to acknowledge that we

         20  have been joined by Council Member Charles Barron, a

         21  member of the Council, but who is not a seated

         22  member of this Committee.

         23                 I would like to also acknowledge that

         24  Dudley Sharp of the organization Justice for All has

         25  submitted testimony against this moratorium.  And I
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          2  like you to know that we will be taking the vote on

          3  Resolution 12- A at this time.  But we are asking

          4  that all who are here to testify, please remain

          5  until after the vote.  We need your testimony on the

          6  record, because based on how this vote goes, we will

          7  need that testimony, should the occasion arise for

          8  the full body of the City Council.  Thank you.

          9                 And I will ask the clerk to do his

         10  thing at this time?

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Clarke.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  May I be

         15  excused to explain my vote?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, you may.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  I'm looking

         18  over the testimony of all of those who have

         19  testified today, and also the Resolution 12- A that

         20  I have before me.  And in that Resolution it states

         21  opinions of the Governor Glendening of Maryland, who

         22  is now studying the fairness of this particular

         23  process, as well as HR 321 from Congressman Jesse

         24  Jackson, Jr., who is not only looking at the

         25  protection of the judicial rights of inmates, but
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          2  also the production of DNA, and how we can begin to

          3  look at this particular issue to decide how fair it

          4  really is before we even get to the race question or

          5  the race cart in terms of the amount of people that

          6  are sitting on death row and the amount of people

          7  that are actually executed.  There are some very

          8  troubling questions in dealing with this.

          9                 The Resolution also states that since

         10  New York State took over the execution process from

         11  the local authorities in 1890, there has been 695

         12  legal executions.  I think that is 695 legal

         13  executions too much, and I vote aye in support of

         14  this resolution.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Avella.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Madam Chair,

         17  may I have a few minutes to explain my vote?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, Councilman.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  First of all,

         20  I would like to compliment the Chair and all the

         21  members who have signed onto this resolution and

         22  introduced it, because it is necessary to have this

         23  debate on this issue.  This is obviously a life and

         24  death matter for a good number of people in this

         25  country.  And anybody who cannot publicly state what
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          2  their opinion is should not be an elected official.

          3  I have always been strongly in favor of the death

          4  penalty this goes back to my days in high school,

          5  having participated in a number of debates all

          6  through my, I guess, private life and public life.

          7                 I have listened to the testimony, I

          8  have been lobbied by a number of individuals in this

          9  room, I have read the materials that they have given

         10  me, and I understand the seriousness of the

         11  situation, I understand the issues on all sides, but

         12  I have not heard anything new that I was not aware

         13  of to begin with.  I do not feel that my position

         14  changes, and I would just say that, in my opinion,

         15  although I understand the good intentions of the

         16  Chair and the supporters of the resolution, that in

         17  effect the moratorium is a back door approach to

         18  abolishing the death penalty.

         19                 I vote no.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Diaz.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  May I have a

         22  minute to explain my vote?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, you may,

         24  Council member.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  It has been
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          2  said that the years in New York State and throughout

          3  the nation, I feel like an Hispanic, here in the

          4  City of New York the majority of inmates are Black

          5  and Hispanic.  So even though some people say that

          6  an injustice has been made, it is also Hispanic who

          7  are killing Hispanic in the City, and it is also

          8  Black who is killing Black here in the City.

          9                 Therefore, if we are the ones

         10  committing the crime, the prison should be filled up

         11  of our people, because it is not the white who is

         12  killing, to come to the South Bronx, to come to

         13  Harlem to kill our people, it is our own people.

         14  But that is not my, that in not why I'm taking the

         15  position that I'm taking.

         16                 The position I'm taking would be

         17  based on the two guys that were released after 16

         18  years.  If that incident did not happen, would have

         19  never happened, I would have voted no today. Because

         20  of that incident, because I have no problem with the

         21  death penalty, but because of those two guys and

         22  that priest that kept the secret for 16 years, only

         23  that incident, and not because the jails are full of

         24  Hispanic and Black, because they deserve to be

         25  there, they are the ones committing the crimes.  But
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          2  because of those two guys, I'm voting in favor of

          3  the resolution.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Monserrate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Madam

          6  Chair, may I be excused to explain my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, you may,

          8  Council member.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Obviously

         10  I am a co sponsor of the resolution, so I think that

         11  should speak for itself. But I will say and

         12  regarding the remarks of our Criminal Justice System

         13  and who inhabit it, I'm a firm believer in that

         14  criminals should be behind bars, and that they

         15  should fulfill their sentences, as a former law

         16  enforcer also.

         17                 But I am also very cognizant of the

         18  very complex, social economic realities that we have

         19  as a society, and to just put that away, I think is

         20  unfair and that perhaps is another hearing and

         21  another resolution.

         22                 But let me just say that regarding

         23  this issue, I do support the establishment of a

         24  Commission, and perhaps this City Council can take

         25  that measure forward and that we investigate all the
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          2  complexities of this issue, and the issue is very

          3  complex, and it is also very emotional.  I'm also a

          4  former police officer, and when my former brothers

          5  in blue were slained, I know there was a lot of

          6  emotion that those incidents evoked.  But the

          7  reality is that there are inherent flaws in our

          8  Criminal Justice System, there are inherent flaws in

          9  our society to a greater degree.

         10                 And I believe that the only way that

         11  we should ensure that innocent people do not get

         12  killed, or even as previously testified, people who

         13  should not be on death row get killed, is a

         14  moratorium.

         15                 So I support this moratorium, and I

         16  also support phase two, which should be the

         17  establishment of a Commission that can really debate

         18  and look at all the angles that are involved in this

         19  complex issue.

         20                 Madam Chair, I vote aye on this

         21  resolution.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sanders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Madam Chair,

         24  may I have permission to explain my vote?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, you may,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  While it was

          4  stated earlier today that the communities of color,

          5  the so- called minority communities are committing

          6  more crimes and things of this nature, I would just,

          7  of course, encourage everybody who really wanted to

          8  understand the issue to look into the amount of

          9  arrests that are taking place, the indictments, the

         10  convictions, the diversion to alternative sentences

         11  that can help explain why our prisons are skewed.

         12  There are no, statistically, overall in terms of

         13  crimes, these communities are not creating a

         14  disproportionate amount of crimes.  I would suggest

         15  to you that instead that the system allows other

         16  communities to be diverted away from prison.  I'm

         17  not here to say whether this is right or wrong, I'm

         18  just saying that this is a fact.

         19                 I want to again, commend the

         20  Professor for an absolutely brilliant defense of the

         21  status quo in one sense.  In one sense it is rather

         22  clintonish (sic) where say we want to mend, not end

         23  a situation.  I agree with my Council Member

         24  Monserrate that the Council, and of course, my

         25  Council Member Avella, that the Council not only has
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          2  a moral responsibility to review this, but we need

          3  to view it further, and I do agree that a Commission

          4  is a worthy vehicle that needs to be created.

          5  However, with the preponderance of the information,

          6  with looking at the situation, I would have to vote

          7  for the moratorium, and we do need to set up a

          8  Commission to see how we can get to some real

          9  criminals.

         10                 I vote aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Madam Chair,

         13  may I be temporarily excused to explain my vote?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes, Mr.

         15  Minority Leader.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you.

         17  Just by way of disclosure, I want the record to

         18  reflect that Professor Robert Blecker was my

         19  Criminal Law Professor at New York Law School in

         20  1990.  I want to ensure my colleagues though, that

         21  that factor, in and of itself, has not influenced my

         22  vote.  Nor has the fact that Professor Blecker only

         23  giving me a "B" in that particular course effected

         24  my vote.

         25                 With that said though, on a much more
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          2  serious note, I think there was no better, no more

          3  articulate, rational and informed justification for

          4  a no vote than Professor Blecker's testimony.

          5                 And with that, I vote no.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 5 in

          7  there affirmative, 2 in the negative, and no

          8  abstentions, the item has been adopted. Please sign

          9  the Committee report.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like to

         11  just ask those who are testifying, I want to stress

         12  the importance that we hear your testimony today,

         13  and ask that you please remain.

         14                 I would like to thank my colleagues

         15  for participating and bringing this to a vote today.

         16    I would like to acknowledge that Council Member

         17  James Davis is here with us, and I also saw Council

         18  Member Gallagher, as well.

         19                 I would like to acknowledge Council

         20  Member Charles Barron for a statement at this time,

         21  and we will be going into testimony beyond these

         22  statements.  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Well thank

         24  you, Madam Chair. I just wanted to commend you on

         25  your leadership and your work in getting this
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          2  Resolution passed.  And I just wanted to clear up a

          3  couple of items.

          4                 Number one, when it is often stated

          5  that Blacks commit more crimes and Blacks are in

          6  prisons, Blacks and Latinos, there is a report done

          7  by the Correctional Society of New York, Robert

          8  Gange's organization a few years ago, called, An

          9  Imprisoned Generation.  And it stated that 80

         10  percent of Black youth from the age of 18 to 26, who

         11  commit the identical drug- related crimes as white

         12  youth from 18 to 26, Professor, 80 percent of the

         13  Black youth get incarceration to build the prison

         14  industrial complex, and 80 percent of the white

         15  youth get probation.

         16                 So we have got to look at what

         17  happens with Black people when we do commit crimes,

         18  and what happens to a white youth when they commit

         19  the same identical drug- related crimes.  And it

         20  also stated that 80 percent of the drug users and

         21  drug dealers in the state are white.  And usually

         22  the profile, this is the criminal profile, not the

         23  racial profile, of that person is a 22- year- old

         24  white male.  So why are the prisons filled with

         25  Black and Latino youth, when most of the dealers,
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          2  most of the users are white males in the age of 21

          3  to 22 bracket?  So you cannot always judge the

          4  incarceration with the crime.

          5                 The other thing, that although

          6  testimony is just brilliantly researched and

          7  presented, it was riddled with contradictions,

          8  riddled with contradictions.  So even though, the

          9  Professor is getting a lot of accolades, if you

         10  really listen closely, and you see that the

         11  innocence of people, confession that that could

         12  happen, that the death penalty does not deter crime,

         13  it makes no sense to even have it.

         14                 You know we are doing a moratorium so

         15  that we can think about it more, but it makes more

         16  sense to even have it, but yet, people for some

         17  strange reason, no scholastic reason, no statistical

         18  reason will just stick with it.  So it only makes me

         19  thing that maybe it is just not politically correct

         20  or advantageous in certain areas to talk about

         21  abolishing the death penalty.

         22                 But I think that under the leadership

         23  of our Chairperson, that I want to commend her

         24  highly for her courage and this Committee's courage

         25  to do the right thing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

          3  Council Member Barron.  I was informed that Council

          4  Member James Davis would like to make a statement,

          5  and who will be followed by our Deputy Majority

          6  Leader with his statement.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Thank you,

          8  Madam Chair, Councilwoman Clarke.  Me being a former

          9  police officer, retired police officer, very

         10  sensitive, and also a Correction officer.  I worked

         11  in C- 95 Riker's Island before I became a police

         12  officer.

         13                 The thought of one person, the

         14  thought of one person being innocently put to death.

         15    Also before I became a police officer and a

         16  Correction officer, I was a victim of police

         17  brutality at the age of 18.  Two police officers

         18  thought that I had stolen my mother's car.  They did

         19  not wait, they rushed, they put the guns against my

         20  head, pulled me out of the car, slammed my head down

         21  on the police car, drove me down to the 71 Precinct

         22  in cuffs. Then found out after the fact, it was my

         23  mother's car.

         24                 The death penalty is so final, if you

         25  make a mistake, one mistake, you cannot say, oh, we
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          2  are sorry.  We read the papers all the time, we see

          3  about people.  In today's paper you read about a

          4  person who has been in jail for the last 18 years,

          5  oh, he is not the one who did it, she is not the

          6  person who did it.  So it is irreversible, you

          7  cannot go back, it is so final.

          8                 We need to make sure that there is a

          9  fair and level playing ground.  We need to make sure

         10  that there is no corks (sic) and screw ups, we need

         11  to make sure before we take a chance with something

         12  that is not and cannot ever be turned around.

         13                 I am so grateful to Councilwoman

         14  Clarke and this Committee, not being on this

         15  particular Committee.  I'm on the Public Safety

         16  Committee and a few others, I'm so grateful for her

         17  leadership, and I'm so grateful.  And if I did have

         18  the opportunity to vote, I certainly would have

         19  voted aye.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, Council

         21  member, you will have an opportunity  when this

         22  resolution goes before the full floor.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS:  Aye.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Deputy Majority

         25  Leader, Bill Perkins.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            112

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

          3  very much, Madam Chair.  It's a very important

          4  moment for this Council, as far as I am concerned,

          5  this has been a long journey to get to this point,

          6  and I want to take a quick moment to express my

          7  appreciation to you and to this Committee for what

          8  you have done today in putting the Council on record

          9  in support of this moratorium.

         10                 I want to take a little diversion and

         11  especially thank, if I may, Reverend Diaz.  I know

         12  in our earlier conversations he had shared with me

         13  his position against this particular resolution, and

         14  in that time he has lived up to his word in terms of

         15  listening to me and listening to the testimony and

         16  listening to the advocates, and at some point,

         17  ultimately making a decision that he felt was a

         18  decision of his conscience.  So he has come a long

         19  way to be on our side, and I want to give him a

         20  moment of appreciation for having done that.

         21                 I want to take a moment and say that

         22  in the few years that we have heard so much

         23  testimony, it seems to me that the testimony that we

         24  hear from the opposition is generally consistent in

         25  that it is inconsistent.  It is consistent in that
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          2  it acknowledges injustice, it acknowledges that, for

          3  instance, in today's testimony 80 percent or more do

          4  not deserve the death penalty, but nevertheless, the

          5  death penalty should be imposed.  It seems to me

          6  that that in itself is an argument for a moratorium,

          7  if nothing else.  And so it seems to me that we are

          8  clearly on the right track, especially since even

          9  the opposition has not been able to muster an

         10  argument that makes sense or has inconsistency with

         11  its own internal argument.

         12                 I want to apologize to those of you

         13  who have come and I have not had an opportunity to

         14  hear from today, because we are, I am also the Chair

         15  of the Governmental Operations Committee, and at one

         16  o'clock I'm scheduled to have hearing, normally

         17  right here, but because of the overwhelming

         18  attendance for those of you who want to speak in

         19  support of this resolution, we are going to have

         20  that hearing next door.

         21                 So those of you from the Board of

         22  Elections, et cetera, who are here in this room for

         23  the one o'clock hearing, it will be in that room,

         24  and I will join you shortly.  But I wanted to

         25  apologize to those of you who are here for the
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          2  resolution that I may have to leave sooner then

          3  expected in order to Chair the other hearing,

          4  another very important hearing about our democracy

          5  and electoral process.

          6                 But again, I want to thank, Yvette

          7  Clarke, the Councilwoman, the Chairperson of this

          8  Committee for the support in making this hearing

          9  happen as expeditiously as it has happen, within the

         10  first six months of this new Council.  It represents

         11  that this is a new, fresh, democratic Council that

         12  has the courage to hear the controversial issues and

         13  make the difficult decisions.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, Mr.

         16  Majority Leader. I am going to ask that we hear our

         17  next panel at this time and reserve my comments for

         18  the conclusion of our hearing.  I would like to call

         19  at this time Mr. David Kaczynski, Ms. Celeste

         20  Fitzgerald of Equal Justice USA, the Quikote Center.

         21    I would like to call Ms. Nancy Hoffman, Amnesty

         22  International.  I would like to call Reverend James

         23  Forbes, Jr., of the Riverside Church of New York,

         24  and Professor James Liebman, Columbia Law School.

         25                 Just as a reminder to everyone,
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          2  again, if you could make your comments specific and

          3  a pinpointed as possible so that we can get as much

          4  of your testimony on the record as possible.  We

          5  have a number of individuals waiting to testify, and

          6  we would like to make sure that everyone's

          7  commentary is on the record.  If there are any of

          8  you who have written commentary that we can put into

          9  the record, make sure that our Sergeant- At- Arms

         10  has received copies of them.  And I would like to

         11  thank everyone for their patience and perseverance,

         12  I think this is a very critical issue and critical

         13  debate and that we need to have as much testimony on

         14  this as possible.

         15                 So we would like you to please state

         16  your name and your affiliation before you begin your

         17  testimony.

         18                 REV. FORBES:  My name is James

         19  Forbes.  I am the senior minister at the Riverside

         20  Church in the City of New York.  And I want to thank

         21  you, Madam Chairwoman, for opportunity to

         22  participate in such a dignified and such a

         23  significant opportunity to address a crucial concern

         24  of our day, thank you so very much.

         25                 I would like, I have had my copy
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          2  distributed, so it is before you.  On behalf of the

          3  Riverside Church, I would indicate that we have

          4  consistently stood in opposition to the death

          5  penalty itself.  There is a growing sense of our

          6  commitment to the same, and we believe it is a noble

          7  process to engage for the incremental engagement of

          8  the moratorium, but hopefully the goal will be that

          9  we will somehow exclude ourselves from the nation's

         10  most significantly engaged in the more brutal forms

         11  of criminal justice, of which the death penalty,

         12  generally, we consider to be a part of.

         13                 So to make my comment, I will not

         14  read our statement, I just want to list some reasons

         15  why folks who believe in the death penalty might

         16  need to get a second opinion.

         17                 First of all, context makes a

         18  difference.  Census 2000 indicating that people who

         19  have been in the majority, may not be in the

         20  majority, but that there will be a series of

         21  minority perspectives in this diversity.  There has

         22  been the return of the tribalistic impulse.  That is

         23  the context within which all criminal justice gets

         24  defined.

         25                 Secondly, 9/11 has inflamed the sense
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          2  of vulnerability and generated fear and suspicion,

          3  that usually boards ill with respect to the death

          4  penalty.

          5                 Third, the national response of 9/11

          6  has set a tone for a reduced commitment to liberty

          7  and due process, especially for persons different

          8  from the majority.  That spells bad news for people

          9  who have traditionally been higher in the percentage

         10  of those who are to be executed.

         11                 Four, the Department of Homeland

         12  Security, in process of being developed, may not

         13  really be able to be as vigilant for the rights of

         14  minorities disproportionately engaged in the

         15  process.

         16                 Five, at the time of heightened

         17  anxiety, as is the case now, since 9/11,

         18  scapegoatism increases and the targeting of selected

         19  populations will result.

         20                 Six, reversing policies and decisions

         21  as in Mamir's (phonetic) case in Philadelphia.  That

         22  is a battle line, the old folks saying we are not

         23  going to get in.  Those who have been dispossessed

         24  saying, but there are so many egregious ever errors

         25  in the Criminal Justice System.  It is a serious
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          2  tug- of- war as to whether we can acknowledge the

          3  injustices of the past to go to a more just

          4  situation in the future.

          5                 Seven, the State of Texas is a state

          6  that has been very high in executions because of the

          7  prominence of leadership from that State.  That will

          8  impact the general spirit across the nation.

          9                 Eight, we need not only outsiders who

         10  have been abolitionists to come forward, maybe those

         11  who are in the Criminal Justice System need to offer

         12  their self critique.  The plans they have for

         13  addressing the flaws, and give us a progress report.

         14                 And I would like to say, the

         15  Executives, who in your case, Sir, are going to make

         16  these final decisions while things are so complex.

         17  As a preacher, we find that they are sinners too,

         18  and that their judgement is impacted also by the

         19  general climate.  And I wish that we preachers and

         20  the Executives could demonstrate that because of our

         21  positions you will always expect higher moral

         22  sensitivity, not always the case, I will acknowledge

         23  that for both preachers and for lawyers and for

         24  public officials.

         25                 Nine, there is a decline in special
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          2  consideration for juveniles and mentally challenged

          3  people.  People do not much care.

          4                 Ten, as a global power, super power,

          5  do we of the United States want to among those

          6  nations with the most brutal Criminal Justice

          7  System.

          8                 Eleven, can we lead for one time in

          9  research and development regarding more humane ways

         10  to deal with the problematics of criminality?

         11                 Twelve, since it is Resolution 12- A,

         12  shouldn't we take the lead in reversing the spirit

         13  of revenge and moving towards the hope of

         14  rehabilitation?  You should know that from a

         15  ministerial perspective, everyone of us in here is

         16  under the death sentence right now.  I mean between

         17  now and the time we get back home, given the kind of

         18  world we are living in.  In a spiritual sense we are

         19  all on death row.  If that is the case, most of us,

         20  I know I will start the line, I want mercy.  So as

         21  long as I can impact policy, I am going to look at

         22  any way to offer mercy, because one day soon I might

         23  need it, and some of you, as well.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I would like to
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          2  do a little housekeeping before we continue with our

          3  panel.  First of all, I would like to acknowledge

          4  that we have been joined by Robert Jackson, Council

          5  member from Manhattan, Upper Manhattan.

          6                 I believe that my colleague, Deputy

          7  Majority Leader has a statement to make.

          8                 We are running into some time

          9  constraints here, and so we are probably going to

         10  have to listen for some instruction on how we will

         11  take the rest of the testimony for today, but we are

         12  making arrangements for that right now.  So after

         13  our Deputy Majority Leader's brief comments, we will

         14  go through some housekeeping to we can make sure

         15  that we can continue and complete our task for

         16  today.  Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         18  very much, Madam Chair.  I just wanted to leave with

         19  a note of appreciation to you Dr. Forbes, and to the

         20  rest of the panel for the wonderful work that you

         21  have done and guidance that you have given me and

         22  the members of the City Council over the years in

         23  regard to this issue, and did not feel comfortable

         24  leaving without taking a moment to say that.  So

         25  thank you all very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, what I

          3  would like to do, is I would like to hold that panel

          4  in place at this moment.  We are coming into

          5  collision with another Committee scheduled for this

          6  room.  And I would like to get a sense of whom in

          7  the audience is still left to testify based on the

          8  slips that we have.  And then arrangements are

          9  currently being made for us to relocate to the Red

         10  Room where the rest of our testimony will be taken.

         11  So if everyone would just be patient with me, and

         12  again, I cannot stress to you how important it is, I

         13  know that the time is growing late, but for those of

         14  you who can testify today, we would like to have

         15  your testimony.

         16                 Is Russell Neufeld of the Legal Aid

         17  Society still available for testimony?

         18                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  He had to

         19  leave.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, thank you.

         21    Richard Greenberg, are you available for

         22  testimony?  Thank you, Sir. Joseph Nursey, okay,

         23  thank you.  Sister Kathleen Quinn.

         24                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Left.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.
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          2  Rabbi Deborah Hirsh.

          3                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  She had to

          4  leave.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

          6  Sister Camille Darienzo, will you be available for

          7  testimony?  Thank you, Sister. Mr. Paul Bosco, you

          8  are available for testimony.  Thank you, Sir. Ms.

          9  Mary Van Valkenburg, you are available?  Thank you,

         10  Ma'am.  And Ms. Gwendolyn Debrow, you are available

         11  for testimony?  Thank you, Ma'am.

         12                 Is there anyone that I have missed?

         13  Okay, we are going to reconvene in 10 minutes in the

         14  Red Room, which is located near the Speaker's Office

         15  downstairs.  Thank you very much.

         16                 (Recess taken.)

         17                 We are reconvening this hearing on

         18  Resolution 12- A, and we have panelists sitting

         19  before us at this time.  They will identify

         20  themselves and make their statements for the record.

         21  State the name and the organization you represent.

         22                 MS. FITZGERALD:  My name is Celeste

         23  Fitzgerald.  I represent Equal Justice USA for the

         24  field office covering New York.

         25                 Thank you, Chairwoman Clarke and
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          2  Deputy Majority Leader Perkins, and other members of

          3  the Committee.  It is an honor to represent today a

          4  wrongfully convicted individual who thankfully

          5  survived his experience on death row in our country.

          6    Ray Krone could not be here today because he is

          7  testifying before Congress on the Innocent

          8  Protection Act.  I have submitted a statement by Ray

          9  Krone, as well as a statement by Kirk Bloodsworth,

         10  who is also an innocent person who spent time on

         11  death row.  Kirk is also testifying before Congress.

         12                 I first want to mention that in my

         13  work as the Northeast Field Office Organizer for

         14  Equal Justice USA, I have met individuals that were

         15  condemned to die for crimes they did not commit.

         16  Once you have met someone who has suffered so much,

         17  you are changed forever.  When an innocent person is

         18  condemned to die, he enters a nightmare the likes of

         19  which we cannot begin to comprehend.  The 101

         20  innocent persons who have walked off death row in

         21  the United States lost precious time with their

         22  family and whatever financial security they had.

         23  Some have lost their health. Remarkably, men like

         24  Ray Krone have not lost their love of our country.

         25  Ray is one of the 101 innocent individuals who
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          2  survived death row.  There are likely many more

          3  death row exonerations to come.  And, many more

          4  innocent people have been released after spending

          5  years in prison for serious crimes.  This resolution

          6  is an opportunity for New York City to light the way

          7  towards justice in our state and in all states, by

          8  calling for a moratorium until serious questions

          9  surrounding the use of the death penalty can be

         10  addressed.

         11                 And now, I am honored to read a

         12  statement by my friend, Ray Krone, the 100th

         13  innocent person to be released from death row in

         14  this country.

         15                 Dear Council members,

         16                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         17  submit this statement in support of Resolution 12-

         18  A, which calls for a moratorium on executions in New

         19  York while issues of fairness and risk of error are

         20  examined.

         21                 I am Ray Krone.  As a falsely

         22  convicted man who spent 10 years in prison, three on

         23  death row, I recognize the shortcomings of our

         24  current death penalty system.  My hope is that

         25  concerned citizens will now take the time to examine
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          2  a system that clearly puts innocent people at risk

          3  of death.  My hope is that a close look at the death

          4  penalty system will help to ensure that there will

          5  be no more Ray Krones, that no one else will have to

          6  face the ultimate punishment for a crime they did

          7  not commit.

          8                 Having experienced life on death row

          9  and knowing the trauma and harshness of that

         10  environment and what it put my family through, I

         11  plead with the humanity of the citizens of the great

         12  City of New York to help make sure that what

         13  happened to me never happens again.  It is below our

         14  dignity as Americans and as a civilized nation.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 Sincerely,

         17                 Ray Krone

         18                 I would also like to just submit to

         19  the record the results, since Professor Blecker

         20  mentioned polling in his testimony.  Polls have

         21  actually been showing a trend downward in support of

         22  the death penalty, with a very small upward swing

         23  post 9/11.  However, recent polls have also shown

         24  increasing support for a moratorium.

         25                 I think, importantly, we, the State
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          2  of New York can look to its neighbor, New Jersey,

          3  the State of New Jersey.  In May of 2002, just last

          4  month, a poll shows that support for the death

          5  penalty is at the lowest point in New Jersey, in

          6  recent New Jersey history.  Sixty percent New

          7  Jerseyans say they support the death penalty right

          8  now, and that is, as I said the lowest number in

          9  many, many years.

         10                 Support for the moratorium was 66

         11  percent, including those, the majority of those who

         12  stated they supported the death penalty right now,

         13  including people from every political party.  So

         14  that poll is only two weeks old.  I can get that

         15  information to the Council.

         16                 And I do want to note that as a New

         17  Jerseyan, I do work here in New York City with New

         18  Yorkers Against the Death Penalty.  But as a New

         19  Jerseyan, I can tell you that New Jersey has shared

         20  the tragedy of September 11th, and yet these poll

         21  results clearly show that the citizens of New Jersey

         22  are very concerned on this issue.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you, Ms.

         24  Fitzgerald.  We would like to move now to our next

         25  panelist.
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          2                 MR. LIEBMAN:  Thank you, Chairwoman

          3  Clarke and members of the Committee.  My name is

          4  James Liebman, I am a Professor of Law at Columbia

          5  Law School here in New York.  And I appreciate the

          6  opportunity to testify on this important issue.

          7                 I want to confine my testimony to the

          8  results that a group of Social Scientists, Lawyers

          9  at Columbia University have been conducting over the

         10  past 11 or 12 years on the death penalty. As a team,

         11  we do not have a position one way or the other on

         12  the moratorium.

         13                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  We cannot hear

         14  you.

         15                 MR. LIEBMAN:  I'm sorry.  As a team,

         16  we do not have a position one way or the other on

         17  the moratorium.  We are available to offer

         18  information that our study has generated, but we do

         19  take a very strong position in favor of an

         20  additional study of the death penalty, of the sort

         21  that Resolution 12- A contemplates.               You

         22  can learn a lot about the death penalty, as we did

         23  nationally from a national study, and even get some

         24  information locally and on the state basis.  But the

         25  only way to really figure out what is going on, what
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          2  the problems are at the local level, what the

          3  solutions might be, and how much those solutions

          4  will cost, and whether they are worth it, is to

          5  conduct a state- by- state and even jurisdiction-

          6  by- jurisdiction study.  And so that process is

          7  important to the extent that this resolution

          8  furthers that process, it is a very important

          9  resolution indeed.

         10                 We published two research reports in

         11  which we studied what happened to all 5,826 death

         12  verdicts that were imposed in 34 states and 1,004

         13  counties in the United States that were using the

         14  death penalty over a 23- year period, from 1973 to

         15  1995.

         16                 Our first report asked the question,

         17  how much error did the courts inspected, the state

         18  and federal courts that inspected those verdicts

         19  find?

         20                 And our second report asked the

         21  question, what causes that kind of error?

         22                 A lot of our findings are set out in

         23  the written testimony that I have supplied to the

         24  Committee, including attached our Executive

         25  Summaries, I will just make a few brief remarks
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          2  about them first.

          3                 Nationally, during our 23- year study

          4  period, we found that capital verdicts were so

          5  fraught with serious, reversible error, error that

          6  goes to the reliability of the outcome in those

          7  cases, that there is a very strong reason to doubt

          8  that the capacity of the system to reliably identify

          9  people who deserve under the laws of states like New

         10  York to be convicted of a capital crime and

         11  sentenced to death.

         12                 Our findings quite strongly confirm

         13  the conclusion of Supreme Court Justice and long-

         14  time death penalty supporter, Sandra Day O'Connor,

         15  who said that there is, and we find as well, a

         16  troubling level of risk that the nation already has,

         17  and if things are not changed will continue in the

         18  future to execute people who are innocent of the

         19  crime for which they were given the death penalty.

         20                 There has been some testimony to the

         21  Committee about the absence of proof that anybody

         22  who has been executed has been innocent.  Of course,

         23  you might think that what you would want was proof

         24  that they have not been innocent before they had

         25  been executed, that is where the burden of proof
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          2  lies.  But the statement was made, that was made

          3  very careful, to say it is just a matter, we do not

          4  know one way or the other.  It might have happened,

          5  it might not have happened.

          6                 The problem is if there is a train

          7  wreck or a plane wreck, or God forbid something

          8  else, the first thing you do is ask, how many people

          9  injured, how many people died, what do we do about

         10  it?  When it comes to the death penalty you cannot

         11  tell, you cannot distinguish the innocent executed

         12  from the guilty executed.  And there is a reason why

         13  you cannot study it, it is the practice of law

         14  enforcement and prosecutors across the country upon

         15  the completion of an execution to either hide or to

         16  suppress the records or actually to destroy the

         17  records in the case.  That is the central set of

         18  records that are available to study this.

         19                 In England, Australia, Canada, those

         20  records are automatically made available for a

         21  Commission that can go and then look and see what

         22  happened.  And in England, for example, there have

         23  been quite a number of posthumous exonerations of

         24  people who were executed.  That cannot happen in the

         25  United States, it is impossible to study the
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          2  question.

          3                 If you cannot count the number of

          4  people who died who were innocent, the next best

          5  thing and the thing you do anyway, of course, is to

          6  study the risk that that will happen, and that is

          7  what we did, that is what Sandra Day O'Connor,

          8  Supreme Court Justice was commenting on.  And the

          9  best that can be said, based upon the available data

         10  is that the risk that an individual will be executed

         11  though innocent is all too high given the amount of

         12  error.

         13                 There was also a statement made in

         14  testimony that much of this error is technicalities.

         15    One person's technicality is another person's

         16  fundamental right.  But the important thing to note

         17  is that when you ask people who make the

         18  technicality charge, what are the technicalities,

         19  give me an example?  What they will tell you are

         20  things like, well, this jury was found to have given

         21  this person the death penalty, when they had been

         22  instructed that they had to give him the death

         23  penalty though they believed he did not deserve the

         24  death penalty, and that is a mere technicality.  If

         25  they had been instructed appropriately, yes, it's
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          2  true they might not have him the death penalty, but

          3  he was still guilty.

          4                 Now in my judgment and the judgment

          5  of the people who conducted this study, the

          6  difference between life and death is not a

          7  technicality.  It may be that the person was guilty

          8  and deserves to be in prison, but the difference

          9  between life and death and the propriety and the

         10  reliability of the judgment of life and death is not

         11  a technicality.  And we have looked and we have not

         12  found situations where technicalities left somebody,

         13  got somebody off of death row, even though reliably

         14  they deserve to be.  These are errors that effect

         15  the reliability of the outcome.

         16                 Secondly, we should point out that

         17  this is not just an issue for people who worry about

         18  reliability, it is also an issue of delay and

         19  expense.  Error leads to delay, and delay and error

         20  lead to expense.  The best available judgment about

         21  the cost of one execution, given the fact that most

         22  people on death row will never get executed, the

         23  cases will cost millions of dollars more than life

         24  without parole would cost for them, including

         25  geriatric care.  But if you add all of those people
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          2  who spend all, who take all of that money, but will

          3  never get executed and you figure the cost per

          4  execution, what you find is the best available

          5  estimate is about $23 million per execution above

          6  and beyond the cost of life without parole.  This is

          7  a system that is not working by anyone's lines, it

          8  does not reliably do what it is supposed to do and

          9  it costs a lot more money than people would want it

         10  to.

         11                 We tried to look at the causes of

         12  error, and we found some disturbing causes, racial

         13  consideration both going to the race of the

         14  population and the race of the victim pool have an

         15  effect; political influences have an effect; use of

         16  the death penalty in a scattershot manner beyond the

         17  worst of the worst, to quote our report, which has

         18  been quoted earlier in the day; and also law

         19  enforcement breakdowns.  It turns out that those

         20  jurisdictions that make the most mistakes in capital

         21  cases are also the ones that do the less well, the

         22  least well in prosecuting people who are guilty of

         23  crimes.  They put fewer of their serious criminals

         24  on trial.  So it is exactly jurisdictions like that,

         25  what appears to happen is they use the death penalty
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          2  for a kind of soft or excuse for doing something

          3  about the death penalty instead of taking those

          4  extra resources that are spent on it, and

          5  potentially putting them into other kinds of law

          6  enforcement efforts that would bring their law

          7  enforcement effort up.  And those jurisdictions that

          8  have a higher and better law enforcement effort

          9  actually have less error in the capital cases.

         10                 And third, and I will stop, the final

         11  point is, there are reforms that may be able to do

         12  something about this.  The question of whether they

         13  are available, whether they are applicable, and how

         14  much they will cost and whether they are worth it,

         15  is a local matter that needs to be studied locally.

         16  And for that reason I commend the Committee for

         17  having adopted Resolution 12- A and doing the kind

         18  of study and urging the kind of study that will lead

         19  to that kind of judgment.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.  I

         21  would like to call upon our next person for

         22  testimony, next panelist.

         23                 MR. KACZYNSKI:  My name is David

         24  Kaczynski.  I am Executive Director of New Yorkers

         25  Against the Death Penalty, which is a statewide
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          2  agency, which seeks the end of the death penalty in

          3  New York State, but also supports a moratorium on

          4  the death penalty.

          5                 Like a previous witness today, Hector

          6  Gonzalez, I have a personal story to tell, and I

          7  thought it might shed some light on the question to

          8  share the personal story, or at least parts of it.

          9  With apologies to Professor Blecker, I think one of

         10  the things that I discovered was that the operation

         11  of the Criminal Justice System is very, very

         12  different from the operation of the human

         13  conscience.  I think I should know, I was faced with

         14  a decision that required me to explore my conscience

         15  when I began to suspect that my brother, Theodore,

         16  whom I knew to be and believed to be seriously

         17  mentally ill, could be the person known as the

         18  unibomber.  I made the difficult decision to

         19  approach federal law enforcement authorities, the

         20  FBI, with this suspicion.  For the next several

         21  months, a couple of months, we worked very, very

         22  closely, the agents and I spent evenings together,

         23  we made trips to look for evidence.  I went into my

         24  mother's house looking for old letters that my

         25  brother had written, and we had a common purpose and
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          2  it was a noble purpose.  That purpose was to save

          3  human life and to stop the harm from continuing.

          4                 Once that purpose was accomplished

          5  with my brother's arrest, there was suddenly a

          6  divergence in the way we approached the case.

          7  Previously, they had assured me that they understood

          8  that my brother was not a political terrorist, not a

          9  sadistic serial killer profile type of person, but

         10  someone suffering from a serious mental illness.

         11  And I thought this could be used to spare his life.

         12  In a sense I had to place my faith in the Criminal

         13  Justice System that the process would have real

         14  integrity.  And the process was backed up by a

         15  promise from the prosecutor that my brother's mental

         16  illness, his mental condition would receive a fair

         17  and impartial evaluation.  I assumed that the care,

         18  the search for the truth, the question of justice,

         19  compassion, all of these issues that filtered out of

         20  my conscience to make the difficult decision I made

         21  to cooperate with the authorities on an almost daily

         22  basis would also motivate them to seek the truth

         23  about my brother's mental illness.

         24                 Within two weeks of receiving the

         25  promise from the prosecutor that there would be this
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          2  fair and impartial evaluation, a kind of hired gun

          3  psychiatrist was hired to evaluate my brother. A man

          4  who has testified in other high profile national

          5  cases, always on the side of the prosecution.  He

          6  recently testified in the case of Andrea Yates, the

          7  mentally ill Texas woman in a capital case, in

          8  effect argued that she was fully responsible for her

          9  crimes, and given the gravity of the crimes that she

         10  should suffer the death penalty.  So I felt

         11  tremendously betrayed.  I felt that the process that

         12  I had faith in, that had to do with conscience and

         13  morality had suddenly switched its focus to a focus

         14  on winning and on doing what was politically

         15  expedient and on advancing the careers of the

         16  people, like the psychiatrists, like the prosecutors

         17  who are involved in the case.

         18                 Again, I do not address any of their

         19  particular motives, but clearly the system was not

         20  focused with the same intensity on issues of truth

         21  and justice that our family had been focused on.

         22                 My brother's life was spared, in

         23  effect, I think it was a number of circumstances

         24  that made that possible.  Among them his suicide

         25  attempt, his evaluation by an independent
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          2  psychiatrist working for the government who backed

          3  up the defense claim that he was suffering from a

          4  serious mental illness.

          5                 In a sense, at that point in my life,

          6  I think I was focused on recovering my personal

          7  life, as much of it as I could. And a few months

          8  later I got a call from a man in California, who

          9  told me that I was probably the only person who

         10  could understand what he was going through.  The

         11  man's name was Bill Babit (phonetic), and he

         12  explained that he had turned in his brother for a

         13  murder.  That his brother was also mentally ill with

         14  the same diagnosis that my brother carried, paranoid

         15  schizophrenia.  That his brother was a decorated

         16  Vietnam Vet who had been wounded in the head during

         17  his service in Vietnam at the age of 17, had become

         18  homeless afterwards and had apparently beaten an

         19  elderly woman while in a delusional state.  She

         20  later died of a heart attack.

         21                 Bill going to the police had

         22  explained the situation that his brother was

         23  seriously ill.  He was promised by the police that

         24  his brother's life would be spared.  He did the

         25  right things for the right reason, he was given the
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          2  appropriate promises.

          3                 But at the time he was calling me,

          4  his brother had about a month to live, he was

          5  sitting on California's death row.

          6                 When I heard about all of the things

          7  that had gone wrong with this Criminal Justice

          8  Process in the Babit case, I really believed that

          9  there was a chance to save Bill's brother's life.

         10  First of all, his brother was mentally ill.  He had

         11  an attorney who had never tried a criminal case

         12  before, let alone a capital case.  A man who was

         13  alcoholic, who subsequently lost his license to

         14  practice law, who did not do all the kinds of things

         15  that a confident lawyer would do.

         16                 An interesting feature of this case

         17  is that Bill and his brother were African- Americans

         18  in a predominantly white community.  Manny Babit was

         19  tried not by a jury of his peers, but by a jury that

         20  was an all white jury, a trend that we see

         21  disturbingly common among death penalty capital

         22  cases, and we are not talking about Mississippi in

         23  the 1950s, we are talking about California,

         24  Pennsylvania, northern states in now the 21st

         25  Century.
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          2                 We, I volunteered to go to the

          3  Clemency hearing.  I tried to make the case, I tried

          4  to speak the reason, and I really had some faith

          5  still in this Criminal Justice Process.  I saw the

          6  seven judges sitting on the panel, who were, not

          7  judges, but they were members of the Parole Board

          8  who would make, the Clemency Board, who would make a

          9  recommendation to Governor Ray Davis.  And I really

         10  believed that there was a chance that the voice of

         11  reason that Manny Babit clearly was not one of the

         12  worst of the worst.  He had been someone, a mentally

         13  ill person caught up in a highly political and

         14  opportunist system.

         15                 Unfortunately, the Clemency Board

         16  recommended unanimously to a death penalty

         17  supporting Governor that Manny Babit was, there was

         18  no reason to seek clemency.  And Bill Babit got to

         19  watch his brother die on death row in San Quintan,

         20  because he did not want his brother to die alone.

         21                 I had the, I cannot call it a

         22  privilege, I attended the funeral in Massachusetts

         23  and I saw Bill Babit and his mother, and Bill trying

         24  to comfort her mother, and understood that

         25  conscience had nothing to do with the Governor's
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          2  decision, that this process had gone very, very bad.

          3    This was a political response, and it was on that

          4  day that I decided that I must speak out about this

          5  issue, that it is an issue of conscience for the

          6  American people and we need to come out in a

          7  different place.  We need to hold, at the minimum,

          8  we need to take a system that is designed to hold

          9  people accountable and responsible, and hold that

         10  system accountable and responsible for the

         11  judgements it makes.

         12                 Thank you.  Just, I know that I am a

         13  little bit over, but I would just like to note that

         14  I am also submitting as testimony a report done by

         15  Professor James Aker of the Criminal Justice

         16  Department at the State University of Albany, who

         17  has done a preliminary comparison of the 85

         18  recommendations of the Ryan Commission with New

         19  York's death penalty statute, and has identified

         20  numerous loopholes through which an innocent person

         21  could pass and be executed in New York State.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank

         23  you for your testimony, and ask that our next

         24  panelist give your testimony, and then we will have

         25  questions for this panel.
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          2                 MS. HOFFMAN:  Thank you very much,

          3  and thanks to each of you individually and as a

          4  Committee for having this hearing.  As you can see

          5  it is, as you know, very important.  My name is

          6  Nancy Hoffman.  I am with Amnesty International.  I

          7  am here because I the New York State Death Penalty

          8  Abolition Coordinator. Amnesty International is

          9  always and in all cases against any execution by any

         10  person by the State.

         11                 But we are working on this moratorium

         12  because not as Professor Blecker has said,

         13  moratorium is not immoral.  Moratorium simply means

         14  that we are taking the time to think, and thinking

         15  is rather crucial here.

         16                 What about the people?  You are

         17  hearing dynamic testimony from amazing figures,

         18  Professor Liebman to speak on the same panel with

         19  you, and Ron Tabak who is my mentor in this, who

         20  have been courageous, as have you, David Kaczynski

         21  and Celeste Fitzgerald, another mentor in this

         22  effort, who has led the grass roots organization in

         23  influencing Governor Glendening, for instance, in

         24  Maryland, who has now joined Governor Ryan.  It is a

         25  privilege to be here with them.
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          2                 I am not an expert on the law, I am

          3  not an expert in the moral considerations.  But I

          4  can tell you that in the broad coalition of groups

          5  working against the death penalty in New York City,

          6  which includes, for instance, the Brooklyn Friends,

          7  Riverside Church, New Yorkers Against the Death

          8  Penalty, the Moratorium Campaign, and all the

          9  various local groups of Amnesty International that

         10  work intensely on this issue.  They are reaching out

         11  to people in the community who are very responsive,

         12  and I have tried to indicate that in the materials

         13  that I left for the Council members as a whole

         14  group.

         15                 Since 9/11, yes, there has been far

         16  more attention to Amnesty International table, but

         17  over the years that I have been working directly on

         18  this issue in New York, more and more people come to

         19  our tables and want information, and they have not

         20  been getting it.  Up until the last couple of years,

         21  newspaper articles were on Saturday, on the inside

         22  in the Times.  But with Governor Ryan's bold,

         23  courageous and dangerous call for a moratorium, you

         24  know that the death penalty is highly politicized.

         25  It comes out when people are running for tricky
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          2  elections.  And is used to make fearful people vote

          3  for certain candidates.

          4                 But when Governor Ryan called

          5  attention to the process being bankrupt, the press

          6  was shamed into treating of the issue.  Because

          7  Governor Ryan was made aware of the problems with

          8  the death penalty by virtue of a high school class,

          9  I believe, that did the - -  the college class that

         10  did the investigative research that showed these

         11  terrible problems with the death penalty in

         12  Illinois.

         13                 The people in New York want

         14  information, we cannot keep them in brochures on the

         15  streets.  And moratorium simply means taking the

         16  time to reflect.  Your constituents want to think

         17  about the issue, and that is all that is on the

         18  table in passing this resolution in New York.

         19                 Of course, after 9/11 any movement on

         20  this issue in New York City is a wonderful,

         21  marvelous act of serious, a vow of the importance of

         22  life.  And again, I appreciate your time.  Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to thank

         25  you, too.  I have a question, and I ask those who
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          2  are on the panel who wish to comment, to please feel

          3  free to do so.  It has to do with the moratorium

          4  itself.

          5                 Within New York State the cities of

          6  Buffalo, Mount Vernon, Rochester, and the towns of

          7  Greenburg and New Castle, have passed resolutions

          8  supporting the declaration of a death penalty

          9  moratorium.  Are you aware of any other local

         10  governments in New York that are considering a

         11  moratorium resolution, and what are some of the

         12  prominent organizations that support a death penalty

         13  moratorium?

         14                 MR. KACZYNSKI:  I guess that answer

         15  should be mine, and I think we are just beginning to

         16  scratch the surface.  We have now a group in Albany

         17  that is approaching, has made some approaches to the

         18  Albany City Council.  I think it would be

         19  extraordinary if the largest, one of the largest

         20  cities in the country and certainly the most

         21  influential city in the State, New York City would

         22  pass a moratorium, and Albany, the State Capital, if

         23  that city would pass a moratorium as well.  I think

         24  it would certainly give pause to the politicians who

         25  so blightly say that we must have the death penalty
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          2  in a democracy because the people want it.

          3                 I think there is an important factor

          4  to consider also, in that when we send a message

          5  like this, it is a moral message, it is not

          6  legislatively binding, but it does, it is a marker,

          7  it is evidence of evolution of standards of decency,

          8  which our court will consider, and certainly the

          9  Supreme Court will consider at some point.  There

         10  are, at last count, over 170 churches, professional

         11  organizations, almost all of them mainstream

         12  religious groups and many of the non- mainstream

         13  faith communities in New York State support a

         14  moratorium on executions.  The American Bar

         15  Association, as we have heard their testimony, many

         16  of the New York City Bar Association.  I think that

         17  these are voices that we must listen to.  I think

         18  they represent informed opinion on the subject.

         19                 The poll figures are kind of

         20  interesting, because, I will give you an example, we

         21  recently did a poll in Albany County, which is not

         22  only an urban county, but a large county with a

         23  great rural population as well.  And we found that

         24  55 percent of the people said that they either or

         25  somewhat or strongly supported the death penalty,
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          2  but 75 percent of the people said that they thought

          3  it was too arbitrary.  Fifty- five percent said that

          4  they were not comfortable with the death penalty,

          5  and interestingly, 67 percent, two- thirds, said

          6  that they would prefer for first degree murder for

          7  the most heinous crimes, life imprisonment without

          8  parole in place of the death penalty.

          9                 So I think, you know, I think public

         10  opinion is shifting and I think support for the

         11  death penalty has been fairly shallow, and we are

         12  now beginning to see some organized voices that are

         13  truly questioning that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Professor

         15  Liebman, would, you know, you talked about not

         16  really having, I guess, a consideration either way

         17  with respect to moratorium, but that the study of

         18  the topic was critical.  Would you support a

         19  Commission, similar to the one that was established

         20  in Illinois, and if so, why?                       MR

         21  . LIEBMAN:  I think the Commission in Illinois had

         22  produced an amazing piece of social scientific

         23  research, actually, and it is a very good example of

         24  what a study can do.  If you look at the Illinois

         25  statute and everything, I mean, Illinois is an
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          2  interesting state.  As far as our study shows, on

          3  the face of it, it is actually very average.  It has

          4  exactly the air rate that the rest of the country

          5  does, it does not stand out in one way or another,

          6  except for the fact that it has a very strong

          7  history of putting people who have been demonstrated

          8  to be innocent on death row.  The question is why?

          9                 Our study suggests that the main risk

         10  factor for putting, for unreliable error on death

         11  cases is a broad scattershot of push to the death

         12  penalty.  It does not make any distinction between

         13  weak cases, strong cases for it, but rather a

         14  susceptible racial considerations, political

         15  pressures and other sorts of things that are not

         16  focused on the specifics of the case, but, at least,

         17  on these other kinds of political.  The death

         18  penalty in a sense is used as a kind of statement to

         19  be generated politically, but not really focused on

         20  what it is supposed to do.

         21                 What that Committee, Commission

         22  discovered was that the statute of Illinois had more

         23  aggravating circumstances than just about any other

         24  statute in the country.  And in a sense invited

         25  exactly the kind of scattershot death sentencing
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          2  that is particularly serious.

          3                 But on the face of it, nobody could

          4  identify that as a problem.  There were issues about

          5  confessions and jail house performance, all of which

          6  are in the report, but what they found out was that

          7  the major serious problem in that state was that

          8  there was just a very bad statute.  And that I think

          9  is a testament to what you can do with a focused

         10  study, which if you look broadly, you miss things.

         11  You have got to look very, in a very focused way,

         12  and I think that that is proof that it could happen

         13  there.

         14                 The Indiana study next door resulted

         15  in some very important reforms there, getting rid of

         16  these terrible processes by which a jury could say

         17  life was the appropriate sentence, and then a judge,

         18  elected, would say, no, no, I have got to imposed

         19  death, because that might help me in the election.

         20  And the Commission there decided that that was a bad

         21  aspect of that particular state's approach, and they

         22  now have legislated that away.

         23                 As David Kaczynski points out, there

         24  have been studies that suggest there may be some

         25  real problems in New York, exactly what they are is
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          2  not so visible yet.  And that is why a study in New

          3  York could be very, very helpful.

          4                 So, in general, we found such severe

          5  problems nationally, and they do cut across, almost

          6  every state in the country has a 50 percent or

          7  higher reversal rate, there are a couple of states

          8  that do not, but almost all do, suggests that there

          9  are real problems everywhere.  And a study can, and

         10  we now have proof that a study can actually identify

         11  things that lie just below of the surface that could

         12  really improve things.

         13                 And also, I think, as everybody here

         14  has said, what happened in this country was that the

         15  United States Supreme Court essentially said to

         16  everybody, you make a moral judgement about whether

         17  you want the death penalty or not, and we will take

         18  care of the rest.  Fairness, efficiency, cost, we

         19  will take care of that. And it turned out, and I was

         20  a lawyer in this process, and I am to blame for

         21  that, because the lawyers said, let's just do

         22  everything in accordance and forget about the

         23  public, and forget about City Councils and things

         24  like that, and it turned out that the court could

         25  not run a system that was objective, but rather a
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          2  system, as we call it, it's broken.  But the public

          3  largely did not have anything to do with that, they

          4  were largely cut out of the process, and largely did

          5  not pay attention to it.  So all they did was to

          6  express a judgement.

          7                 And I think what is happening now is

          8  that the public is realizing that it's got a play in

          9  this issue, it's got to make judgment, it's not just

         10  that you are for or against it, you can hold two

         11  views.  I am for the death penalty, but I want it to

         12  work right.  That is a view that Americans hold

         13  about everything, Social Security, Welfare, Security

         14  at Airports, whatever it is, I'm for it, but I want

         15  it to work.  And suddenly the death penalty is an

         16  issue that people believe the same thing about.  And

         17  now that there are studies, there is discussion,

         18  there is a lot more sophisticated analysis being

         19  done, including by the public and by legislators and

         20  City Councils and things like that, I think that is

         21  a very, very important development.

         22                 A lot of people think that if you

         23  give a death, a moratorium there is going to be

         24  abolition around the corner.  That suggests a huge

         25  amount of defensiveness about the death penalty and
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          2  a lack of faith in it.

          3                 From my perspective, it is going to

          4  take a long time before this country gets mature

          5  enough to have abolition, which I think will come in

          6  time, but probably will not come soon.  So that

          7  means we ought to treat this issue just like

          8  everyone else and say, you know, it's an institution

          9  we have got and let's try an make it work the best

         10  we can, and make good judgements about whether or

         11  not it is valid and that requires a study, and I

         12  think that is what this is all about.

         13                 MS. HOFFMAN:  In answer to your

         14  question about organizations supporting moratorium

         15  call, correct me if I am wrong, Celeste, but the

         16  Quikote Foundation is collecting signed moratorium

         17  resolutions that individual groups are voting on and

         18  signing.  And the grassroots coalition of the groups

         19  that I mentioned has actively been collecting those

         20  moratorium calls signed by the groups.  And Fred

         21  Newton, here, is from a local union, Local 375, for

         22  instance, and their District Council is now

         23  considering, the local has signed, called for a

         24  moratorium, and the Council is in the process of

         25  reviewing the moratorium call.  And this will be
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          2  going on more and more because we are connected to

          3  these unions and working on them as we can.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, I just

          5  wanted - -

          6                 MS. FITZGERALD:  There are nationally

          7  more than now because we surpassed the 2,000 mark

          8  for groups who formally adopted moratorium

          9  resolutions, including 73, I believe, City Councils,

         10  the largest is Philadelphia.  So New York City, if

         11  should pass the moratorium resolution, would become

         12  the largest city calling for a moratorium.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Ms. Fitzgerald,

         14  you had stated that you had some polling

         15  information.  Is that in a form that we could

         16  receive here at the City Council?

         17                 MS. FITZGERALD:  Yes, I would like to

         18  correct that, I think, I believe I said, the

         19  majority of death penalty supporters support a

         20  moratorium, it includes the death penalty

         21  supporters, but it was not the majority, so I just

         22  felt that for record I would correct that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I have just some

         24  final questions about other jurisdictions.  In May

         25  of 2002, Maryland became the second state to have a
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          2  death penalty moratorium imposed. Governor Parris

          3  Glendening, citing reasonable questions about the

          4  fairness of Maryland's death penalty ordered a halt

          5  to executions until the study is completed to

          6  determine whether minority felons are unjustly

          7  singled out for capital punishment.

          8                 Are prosecutors in Maryland still

          9  allowed to seek capital sentences while the

         10  moratorium is in place, and are you aware of any

         11  other states that are currently considering the

         12  declaration of a moratorium on the death penalty?

         13                 MS. FITZGERALD:  Yes, they can

         14  continue to seek death sentencing in the State of

         15  Maryland.  The Governor had ordered the study,

         16  Governor Glendening, and he felt, he made a decision

         17  that while he was studying the issue, he had enough

         18  concern to call for a study that was only right and

         19  just thing to do, to halt the executions until that

         20  study was completed.

         21                 There are, there is moratorium

         22  legislation in many states across the nation, I do

         23  not have the exact numbers.  Once again, I will tell

         24  you that the State of New Jersey has bipartisan

         25  support in trying for moratorium legislation.  They,
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          2  possibly it could pass before the end of the year.

          3  But there are many states across the country, the

          4  State of New Hampshire, legislation passed the

          5  Legislature for abolition of the death penalty, but

          6  it was vetoed by the Governor.  And I forget the

          7  other state.

          8                 MR. LIEBMAN:  New Mexico.

          9                 MS. FITZGERALD:  New Mexico, it was

         10  New Mexico?

         11                 MR. LIEBMAN:  New Mexico came within

         12  a vote.

         13                 MS. FITZGERALD:  Came within a vote,

         14  and then there was one state out west - -

         15                 MR. LIEBMAN:  Nebraska actually had

         16  passed a moratorium that was vetoed by the Governor.

         17                 MS. FITZGERALD:  Nebraska passed a

         18  moratorium also vetoed by the Governor.

         19                 So interestingly in Maryland, the

         20  moratorium legislation passed the full House of

         21  Delegates, it passed the Senate Committee, and on

         22  the Senate floor, it failed only because of a

         23  filibuster and it ran out of time.  Basically, just

         24  two or three, a handful of individuals brought down

         25  that legislation.  So clearly it was the will of the
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          2  Legislature in Maryland, so the Governor, you know,

          3  just followed, but it did take great courage on his

          4  part.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  I want to

          6  thank you for your testimony here today, we really

          7  appreciate it.

          8                 And I would like to call our next

          9  panel at this time.

         10                 MR. KACZYNSKI:  Could I submit

         11  testimony from Rabbi Hirsch, who had been here, but

         12  he had to leave.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Sure, thank you

         14  so much.

         15                 MR. KACZYNSKI:  This is his statement

         16  on behalf of the reform of the  - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  We would

         18  like to acknowledge that we received written

         19  testimony from Rabbi Deborah Hirsch, a position from

         20  the Reformed Jewish Movement.

         21                 I would like to call Sister Camille

         22  Darienzo, Richard Greenberg from the Office of the

         23  Appellate Defender, Joseph Nursey of the Office of

         24  the Appellate Defender, Gwendolyn Debrow of the

         25  Green Party.  Is Mary Van Valkenburg still here?
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          2  Okay, so I just read the note in your corner, I'm

          3  sorry about that, would you please come, and Paul

          4  Bosco.

          5                 Okay, just so, you know, it is

          6  getting late, I would just like to reiterate for

          7  folks, that you please state your name and your

          8  affiliation, and that you try to come straight to

          9  the point with your testimony so that we can make

         10  sure that everyone is assured of having their

         11  testimony on record.  And I want to thank you for

         12  your indulgence for being here, for taking the time

         13  through all of our nuances in today's proceedings.

         14  And we will take your testimony at this time.

         15                 MS. VAN VALKENBURG:  Thank you very

         16  much for this opportunity to speak, and thank you

         17  for the work that you are doing.  I want to speak in

         18  support of the resolution for all the reasons, all

         19  the logical and technical reasons that have been

         20  cited and explained, basically.  But also because I

         21  do hope that this is a step in the direction of

         22  abolition.

         23                 My name is Mary Van Valkenburg, and I

         24  am a resident of the City of New York, born and

         25  raise in New York State, and I am speaking as a
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          2  private citizen.  I would just like to read my brief

          3  statement.

          4                 On a summer night in 1993, walking

          5  home from an opera rehearsal, I was still singing an

          6  aria from Mozart's LA Clemenza di Tito as I climbed

          7  the flight of stairs to my apartment. As soon as I

          8  opened the door, my husband, who had heard me

          9  coming, wrapped his arms around me in a way that

         10  told me something was terribly wrong.  I was

         11  frightened.  Holding me tightly, then, my husband

         12  whispered in my ear, "John and Nancy are dead."

         13                 My brother, John Bosco, and his

         14  beautiful young wife, Nancy Renae Petersen, were

         15  murdered on August 12th, 1993 in the quiet town of

         16  Big Fork, Montana.

         17                 John and Nancy were asleep in their

         18  bed when an intruder, named Joseph Shadow Clark,

         19  broke into a basement window in their home.  He had

         20  cut the phone and electric wires and entered their

         21  home with one intention, to kill the inhabitants.

         22  He stole silently up the steps to their bedroom.

         23  First he shot John in the head at close range.  Then

         24  he went after my terrified sister- in law.  As she

         25  crouched on the bed in a fetal position he sent a
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          2  bullet through her back and out her eye.  After

          3  abusing her dead body, he left.

          4                 Three months later, Clark, an 18-

          5  year- old white youth, a local boy, confessed to the

          6  murders.  It was apparently a thrill- kill.  He

          7  copped a plea and was sentenced to life- in- prison

          8  with the possibility of parole.  The local

          9  prosecuting attorney had argued against the death

         10  penalty and for the parole provision in this case,

         11  because Clark "was young and had never been in

         12  trouble before."

         13                 Montana is a death penalty state.  I

         14  cannot imagine such magnanimity from the prosecutor

         15  had the killer not been a local white man and my

         16  brother no an outsider from New York State. But

         17  there has never been fairness or consistency in the

         18  application of the death penalty in this country.

         19                 The truth is, no one in my family

         20  ever wanted to see Shadow Clark put to death.  We

         21  felt instinctively that vengeance would not

         22  alleviate our grief.  We wanted Clark in prison,

         23  removed from society forever, so he could never hurt

         24  another person.  But watching Clark suffer and die

         25  would have done nothing to help us heal.  Worse,
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          2  wishing Clark would suffer and die would have only

          3  diminished us and shriveled our own souls.  We had

          4  enough pain already, dealing with the indescribable

          5  horror of our loved ones' brains and blood

          6  splattered all over their bedroom walls.  We did not

          7  need to increase our own torment by demanding more

          8  blood.

          9                 I do not know if Shadow Clark has a

         10  right to live. But I do know that I do not have the

         11  right to take his life away. I know the death

         12  penalty is ugly.  Every time the state kills a

         13  person, human society moves in the direction of its

         14  lowest, most base urges.  We do not have to make

         15  that choice.  We could choose to rise to a higher,

         16  wiser, more merciful level.  Why choose ugliness

         17  when we do not have to?

         18                 Perhaps it was no coincidence that I

         19  was singing La Clemenza di Tito the night I learned

         20  of John and Nancy's murder. For in that opera,

         21  composed over 200 years ago in 1791, the Emperor

         22  Titus struggles magnificently over whether or not to

         23  imposed the death penalty.  He is torn between his

         24  personal anger and his enlightened mind.  His

         25  passion wants revenge, while his wisdom tells him
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          2  there is a better, more reasoned way to live.  In

          3  the end, Titus chooses clemency.  Two hundred years

          4  after Mozart, we can do just as well.

          5                 If the death penalty served any truly

          6  beneficial purpose, the argument would be different.

          7    But another thing I know for sure is that the

          8  victims, those of us who grieve our losses, are hurt

          9  by the possible imposition of the death sentence.

         10  We are hurt because even if we had a right to see

         11  the murderers dies, our anguished cries for

         12  vengeance poison our own hearts and minds. Screaming

         13  for more death makes people miserable.

         14                 Society would help the victims more

         15  by eliminating their illusion that a killer's

         16  execution will bring peace and so called closure.

         17  Even if the killer's death were to give victims a

         18  sense that justice had been served, even- ing the

         19  score heals no broken heart.

         20                 Hatred does not heal.  Mercy,

         21  compassion, moving on with life, turning toward good

         22  people, walking into the light of love as much as

         23  possible, that is what victims need.  And our law

         24  makers have the capacity to help us do that by

         25  abolishing the death penalty and along with it, the

              Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

